
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 

 
 

Council Meeting 
Agenda 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 

6 December 2021 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 



 
 

 

 
 



 
 

 

 

 
 

SUMMONS 
 
To All Members of the Council 
 
You are hereby summoned to attend a meeting of the District Council to be held in 
Council Chamber - Appletree Court, Beaulieu Road, Lyndhurst, SO43 7PA on Monday, 
6 December 2021, at 6.30 pm 
 

 
Colin Read 
Interim Chief Executive 
 
Appletree Court, Lyndhurst, Hampshire. SO43 7PA 
www.newforest.gov.uk 
 
This Agenda is also available on audio tape, in Braille, large print and digital format 
 
Members of the public may watch this meeting live on the Council’s website. 

 
Enquiries to:  Matt Wisdom 
   Email: democratic@nfdc.gov.uk 
   Tel: 023 8028 5072 
 

 

AGENDA 
 

 Apologies 

 

1.   MINUTES (Pages 5 - 16) 

 To confirm the minutes of the meeting held on 11 October 2021 as a correct record. 
 

2.   DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  

 To note any declarations of interest made by members in connection with an 
agenda item.  The nature of the interest must also be specified. 
 
Members are asked to discuss any possible interests with Democratic Services 
prior to the meeting. 

 

3.   CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENTS  

 

https://democracy.newforest.gov.uk/mgCalendarMonthView.aspx?GL=1&bcr=1
mailto:karen.wardle@nfdc.gov.uk


 
 

 

4.   LEADER'S ANNOUNCEMENTS  

 

5.   REPORTS OF THE CABINET (Pages 17 - 18) 

 To consider the reports of the Cabinet dated:- 
 

 3 November 2021; and 

 1 December 2021 (to follow). 
 

6.   REPORT OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE (Pages 19 - 20) 

 To consider the report of the Audit Committee dated 29 October 2021. 
 

7.   REPORT OF THE GENERAL PURPOSES AND LICENSING COMMITTEE (Pages 
21 - 112) 

 To consider the report of the General Purposes and Licensing Committee dated 22 
November 2021. 

 

8.   REPORT OF THE HR COMMITTEE (Pages 113 - 114) 

 To consider the report of the HR Committee dated 23 November 2021. 
 

9.   QUESTIONS  

 Under Standing Order 22.  
 

10.   QUESTIONS TO PORTFOLIO HOLDERS UNDER STANDING ORDER 22A  

 To ask questions of Portfolio Holders. Questions received will be tabled at the 
meeting.  (Members are reminded that questions must be submitted to the Chief 
Executive or to the Executive Head of Governance and Housing by not later than 
12.00 noon on Friday 3 December 2021.) 

 

11.   REVIEW AND ALLOCATION OF SEATS TO COMMITTEES AND PANELS 
(Pages 115 - 118) 

 To consider the following:- 
 

 a review of the size of the Planning Committee; 

 the quorum rules for Committees and Panels; 

 the allocation of seats to the political groups on those Committees and 
Panels to which political balance rules apply; and  

 to approve the appointment of Members to Committees and Panels. 
 

12.   ANY OTHER ITEMS WHICH THE CHAIRMAN DECIDES ARE URGENT  

 
 



11 OCTOBER 2021 

NEW FOREST DISTRICT COUNCIL 

Minutes of a meeting of the New Forest District Council held on Monday, 11 
October 2021 

* Cllr Derek Tipp (Chairman)
* Cllr Alan O'Sullivan (Vice-Chairman)

Councillors: Councillors: 

* Alan Alvey
* Diane Andrews
* Ann Bellows
* Sue Bennison
* Geoffrey Blunden
* Hilary Brand
* Alex Brunsdon
* Fran Carpenter

Louise Cerasoli
* Mark Clark
* Rebecca Clark

Steve Clarke
* Jill Cleary
* Anne Corbridge
* Keith Craze
* Kate Crisell

Jack Davies
* Steve Davies
* Arthur Davis
* Sandra Delemare
* Philip Dowd

Jan Duke
* Barry Dunning
* Jacqui England
* Allan Glass

Andrew Gossage
* Michael Harris
* David Harrison
* David Hawkins

* Edward Heron
* Jeremy Heron

Alison Hoare
Maureen Holding
Christine Hopkins

* Mahmoud Kangarani
* Joshua Kidd
* Emma Lane
* Martyn Levitt
* Alexis McEvoy
* Ian Murray
* Stephanie Osborne
* Neville Penman

Caroline Rackham
* Alvin Reid

Joe Reilly
* Barry Rickman
* Tony Ring

Steve Rippon-Swaine
* David Russell
* Ann Sevier

Mark Steele
* Michael Thierry
* Beverley Thorne
* Neil Tungate
* Alex Wade

Malcolm Wade
* Christine Ward
* John Ward

*Present

Officers Attending: 

Colin Read, Grainne O'Rourke, Claire Upton-Brown and Matt Wisdom. 

Apologies 

Apologies for absence were received from Cllrs Cerasoli, S Clarke, J Davies, Duke, 
Gossage, Hoare, Holding, Hopkins, Rackham, Reilly, Rippon-Swaine, Steele and M 
Wade. 

5

Agenda Item 1



Council 11 OCTOBER 2021 

41 MINUTES  

RESOLVED: 

That the minutes of the meeting held on 6 September 2021, be confirmed. 

42 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  

There were no declarations of any disclosable pecuniary interests by Members. 

Cllr E Heron declared, for transparency purposes, that he was a Member of 
Hampshire County Council, the waste disposal authority in respect of the Joint 
Municipal Waste Management Strategy, considered at minute 46 below as part of 
the report of the Cabinet – 6 October 2021. 

43 CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENTS 

Peter Bassett 

The Chairman referred with great sadness to the recent passing of former NFDC 
Chief Executive Peter Bassett, 

Peter served the Council as Chief Executive from 1974 – 1989 and was 
instrumental in the creation of the current New Forest District Council administrative 
area following the Local Government Act 1972. 

The Chairman expressed his sincere condolences to Peter’s family and friends, and 
recognised the significant service he had given to the District. 

Engagements 

The Chairman reported on the following recent engagements:- 

16 September 2021 

Attended Test Valley Borough Council’s “Showcasing Test Valley” event. 

18 September 2021 

Attended the investiture of the New Milton Town Mayor, Cllr Keith Craze. 

20 September 2021 

Attended Hampshire County Council’s Civic Day. 

10 October 2021 

Attended the Civic Service of the Mayor of Christchurch at Christchurch Priory. 

3 October 2021 

The Vice-Chairman attended the Harvest Sunday Service at Winchester Cathedral, 
following an invitation from the Dean and Chapter of the Cathedral. 

6



Council 11 OCTOBER 2021 

44 LEADER'S ANNOUNCEMENTS 

Waste and Recycling Services 

The Leader referred to the ongoing impact of staff shortages and the national 
shortage of HGV drivers on the Council’s Waste and Recycling services.  This was 
the case for many councils in the country. 

He placed on record his thanks to residents who had been patient and supportive 
and to Council staff who continued to work extremely hard in difficult circumstances. 
Managers and supervisors in the service were doing all they could to alleviate 
pressures on the service, working with staff from other council-wide services and 
agency staff and recruiting where they could to fill driver vacancies.  

Staff were having to respond day by day, assessing the staffing levels available, 
and rightly prioritising collecting the black and clear sack waste.  This had meant 
some of of the Council’s services were experiencing disruption.  Garden waste was 
temporarily paused, some glass collections had not taken place, bulky waste was 
currently suspended, and the delivery of sacks was behind schedule. 

The Leader confirmed that the disruption would continue for some time with a 
bigger impact on glass collections.  Priority would continue to be first collecting 
black and clear sack waste, then four weekly garden waste, and then glass 
collections.  

The Council would keep working towards the most effective waste collection service 
for the community with the resources currently available.  HGV driver vacancies 
would continue to be recruited to and the current service arrangements would be 
reviewed by the Cabinet at its meeting on 3 November 2021.  

The Leader asked residents and the community to follow the Council’s updates on 
the website and on social media, and asked again for forbearance in these 
challenging circumstances.  He apologised for the current disruption to services but 
reassured Members and the public that whilst the Council continued to respond to 
national challenges, work also continued to develop services for the better. 

45 NOTICE OF PETITION 

The Chairman welcomed Gilly Jones of the New Forest Speed Awareness 
Campaign to the Council meeting who had organised the following petition as set 
out on the Council agenda:- 

“We the undersigned petition the council to add its support to calls for the 
introduction of an Average Speed Camera system on the B3078.” 

The petition contained 3,557 signatures from people who live or work in the District 
and therefore met the required threshold of 1,700 in the Council’s petitions scheme 
for a Council debate. 

Gilly Jones presented the petition and made a statement.  She encouraged the 
need for agencies to work together to reduce the number of animal casualties and 
the solution of an average speed camera system was a viable one. 

7



Council 11 OCTOBER 2021 

The Chairman welcomed Sarah Weston to the Council meeting who had organised 
a similar petition on the website change.org, which was signed by over 50,000 
people without a requirement to live or work in the District. 

Sarah Weston spoke in support of the petition on the Council agenda and her own 
involvement in the campaign and the wider audience for her petition.  The wider 
petition had now reached over 63,000 signatures.  Members were urged to consider 
the measures that might have been implemented to date, had the casualties been 
human rather than animal. 

The Leader of the Council responded to the petition and thanked members of the 
public for their work in bringing an important matter to the Council’s attention. 
Although the District Council did not have the responsibility or powers to install 
average speed cameras, the petition called on the Council to add its support to the 
campaign.  The Leader was pleased to report positive progress on this issue, as the 
Hampshire Police and Crime Commissioner was agreeable to contributing towards 
a feasibility study.  He then moved the following motion:- 

“That the Council adds its support to the campaign for the introduction of an 
Average Speed Camera system on the B3078.”   

Cllr Cleary seconded the motion. 

The Leader undertook to write to partners to ensure the matter was progressed, 
bringing back appropriate reports to the Council’s Cabinet, if the Council was in 
agreement with the motion. 

The Council debated the petition and the motion. 

The majority of Members spoke in strong support of the motion and acknowledged 
that the campaign on this particular road had been over a number of years.  It was 
a particularly dangerous route at night time.  Some Members spoke of their 
personal experiences with animal casualties in addition to those raised by the 
petitioners.  If successful, it was suggested that the average speed camera model 
could be one that was viable for reducing animal casualties across the wider forest. 
Members welcomed the opportunity for viability studies to take place to ensure a 
solution was evidence based. 

One Member expressed their concern that average speed cameras might be the 
wrong solution for a real issue across many forest roads.  It was suggested that a 
reduction in overall speed limits might be a more cost effective solution that was 
also more successful in reducing incidents. 

The Leader of the Council responded to the debate and the concern that the 
average speed camera solution may not be the most effective.  At the last speed 
monitoring report along this road, it was established that 48% of the vehicles on the 
route exceeded the speed limit.  Whilst speed was not the only factor in animal 
casualties on all forest roads, this particular route experienced 30% of total 
casualties with speed playing a major part in driver behaviour on the B3078, due to 
its long and straight design.  This solution had not been rushed to and many 
interventions had been discussed over a long term campaign.  He welcomed the 
opportunity for further viability studies. 

8



Council 11 OCTOBER 2021 

RESOLVED: 

That the Council adds its support to the campaign for the introduction of an Average 
Speed Camera system on the B3078. 

Note – Cllr Harrison requested that his abstention from the resolution above, be 
recorded. 

46 REPORT OF THE CABINET 

The Leader of the Council presented the report of the Cabinet meeting held on 6 
October 2021 and moved the adoption of the recommendations.  Cllr Cleary 
seconded the motion. 

The Chairman informed the Council that he would take the recommendations of 
paragraphs 1-5 in the Cabinet report before dealing with the final recommendation 
in paragraph 6 separately, as it recommended that the Council pass a motion. 

RESOLVED: 

That the report be received and the recommendations of paragraphs 1-5 be 
adopted. 

Paragraph 6 – Response to Motion to Declare a Climate Emergency 

Members spoke in support of the recommendation to declare a climate change 
nature emergency.  The work of Cllr M Wade was highlighted in bringing forward 
the matter to the Council in the form of the original motion and a previous motion in 
2019.  Members of the Opposition were pleased to support the Cabinet’s 
recommendation to declare a climate change and nature emergency.  They 
committed to holding Members to account in the delivery of the action plan in due 
course. 

The direction of the Government, Hampshire County Council and the National Park 
Authority was highlighted and Members recognised that the Council had the 
opportunity to become a community champion on the subject.  A number of 
Members highlighted the positive work already undertaken by the Council in this 
area as fully detailed in the Cabinet report. 

RESOLVED: 

That the Council declares a Climate Change and Nature Emergency. 

47 QUESTIONS  

There were none. 

48 QUESTIONS TO PORTFOLIO HOLDERS UNDER STANDING ORDER 22A 

Questions were put and answered under Standing Order 22A as follows:- 

 Cllr A Wade to the Portfolio Holder for Planning, Regeneration and
Infrastructure, Cllr Andrews, on facilities for HGV drivers.

9



Council 11 OCTOBER 2021 

 

 Cllr M Clark to the Portfolio Holder for Finance, Investment and Corporate
Services, Cllr J Heron, on changes to Universal Credit.

 Cllr Dowd to the Portfolio Holder for Housing and Homelessness Services
on sustainable and greener housing.

 Cllr M Wade to the Portfolio Holder for Partnering and Wellbeing, Cllr
Steele, on NFDC CCTV cameras.

 Cllr Kangarani to the Portfolio Holder for Environment and Coastal Services,
Cllr S Davies, on waste and recycling services.

 Cllr Brand to the Leader of the Council, Cllr E Heron, on hybrid meetings.

Note – a copy of the full questions and replies are attached to these minutes. 

49 DATE OF MEETING 

The Chairman of the Council moved the date change to the April 2023 Council date 
as set out on the agenda.  The Vice-Chairman seconded the motion. 

RESOLVED: 

That the Ordinary Council Meeting scheduled for 6.30 pm, Monday 10 April 2023, 
be moved to 6.30 pm, Monday 17 April 2023. 

50 MEMBERSHIP OF COMMITTEES AND PANELS 

There were no changes. 

CHAIRMAN 

10



FULL COUNCIL – 11 OCTOBER 2021 – QUESTIONS TO PORTFOLIO HOLDERS 

UNDER STANDING ORDER 22A 

First Questions 

Question 1 

From Cllr Alex Wade to the Portfolio Holder for Planning, Regeneration and 

Infrastructure, Cllr Diane Andrews 

The recent shortages we have seen in our shops has been ascribed to Brexit, but also to the 

lack of HGV drivers as well this Council knows to its own cost. Unlike Europe where truck 

drivers have facilities, to park, eat and sleep and shower, the UK is especially bad at 

providing such facilities. 

In concert with Hampshire County Council, what facilities can this Council now provide for 

truck drivers to be able to park up at night safely with good facilities to ensure continued 

supplies of goods to our shops and garages? 

Answer: 

This issue is currently being raised in the transport industry’s news, with Logistics UK 

suggesting that local authorities should recognise the important role in the planning process 

and permit applications for rest stops and parking areas in places where demand outstrips 

supply.  

The National Planning Policy Framework states that planning policies and decisions should 

recognise the importance of providing adequate overnight lorry parking facilities, taking into 

account any local shortages, to reduce the risk of parking in locations that lack proper 

facilities or could cause a nuisance.  Proposals for new or expanded distribution centres 

should make provision for sufficient lorry parking to cater for their anticipated use. 

Local Plan Part 2 has now commenced and there has been a recent Call for Sites for a 

range of different land uses. This is a land use that could be considered as part of the Local 

Plan work.  It should however be noted that such a use will only happen on sites where the 

use can be accommodated without harm to the environment and where the land owner is 

willing to use their land in this way. Land owners tend to use land for the use that gives them 

the greatest return on their investment. Planning will consider this matter as it starts to 

investigate the more detailed work around the issues that Local Plan Part 2 needs to 

consider to plan positively within the district. This work will inform an all member workshop 

later in the year. There will also be a discussion with Hampshire County Council to explore 

options for a more immediate solution. 

Further to that, when you think of our road network, it is important to consider the roads we 

are talking about all of the time, many of which plough through the National Park. 

Question 2 

From Cllr Mark Clark to the Portfolio Holder for Finance, Investment and Corporate 

Services, Cllr Jeremy Heron 

As Councillors will know by a visit to their local supermarket, food costs are soaring and 

energy bills are set to jump 12% from October. For years a Daddies sauce bottle used to be 

a quid. It’s now £1.50.  

Minute Item 48

11



Meanwhile, many of those on particularly low incomes – five million families were on 

universal credit at the most recent count – are receiving text messages or emails that their 

support will be cut by up to £1,040 a year from next month. Poorer residents have contacted 

me about how they go about contacting food banks. 

This is the largest overnight cut to social security since the second world war, affecting more 

than one in five households in some regions.   

The kicker to working people on low incomes – 37% of those on universal credit – is that the 

government are to increase both employer and employee national insurance contributions 

(NICs) by 1.25% from April 2022 to pay for social care.   

This is effectively a 2.5% tax increase as the incidence of employer contributions are likely to 

be passed on to employees in the form of lower wages (or reduced wage increases) in the 

long run.  

Those affected by both will lose out by £1,290 on average, even before the likely effects of 

employer NICs on take home pay. The combined effect of these policies impact the poorest 

households the most. 

Therefore have the Council undertaken any research as to how many households will be 

affected by these changes within the New Forest? 

Answer: 

Poverty within the country and within this District is a very real issue and we could ask if, in 

the 21st century, this is acceptable. 

The question is ‘how much money should be taken from a person who has worked for it, to 

be given to someone who has not worked?’. 

Within Cllr Clark’s question is the answer, in the fact you have raised the issue of increased 

taxation, as well as a removal of what was a temporary increase to the benefit service.  It 

was clearly made as such and it is not a cut, it is a return to what was previously set out. 

Our Prime Minster has got this one right.  We must not allow business to rely on cheap 

labour from abroad and we need to enhance and support employment within this country 

and that is the way forward – strive for greater employment, upskill and value of workforces, 

value employees and pay them accordingly.  The effect of this is less people on benefits, 

higher income from taxation.  As a result we can be in a better place to support those in 

need within our society. 

In the short term, 6,750 households in the District receive universal credit of which just under 

50% are working.  We will continue to support them, signposting them to other agencies and 

to charities within the District.  We will look to deliver our share of the £500m household 

support fund that the Government recently announced, the money being made available to 

councils according to the Government website this month. 

We will continue to support those most in need but we do have to do this in a cost effective 

way and ensure that it is affordable to all. 

12



Question 3 

From Cllr Philip Dowd to the Portfolio Holder for Housing and Homelessness 

Services, Cllr Jill Cleary 

Around 10% of British homes are in the C band or better for energy efficiency performance.  

It costs around £270 a year more to run a D band home and another £650 more to run an E 

band home. These figures predate the current price rises. People living in poor housing in 

fuel poverty are more likely to need NHS services and GP appointments to treat cold and 

damp related conditions. 

You have a plan for new build. What is your vision for tackling private rental and privately 

owned properties in the New Forest district? 

Answer: 

Members will be aware of this Council’s commitment to the private housing sector in our 

District with the publication of our Private Sector Housing Strategy in 2020, which included a 

specific priority on Energy Efficiency. This priority set out actions to improve access to 

energy efficiency advice and funding for landlords, renters and homeowners, whilst our 

private sector housing team ensure the Minimum Energy Efficiency standards are 

maintained during their everyday housing standards work. 

Members of the Greener Housing Task & Finish Group will also be familiar with our 

forthcoming draft Greener Housing Strategy which builds further on the initiatives and 

activities contained within the Private Sector Housing Strategy.  

We have also recently joined a number of consortia involving other local authorities to help 

deliver improved energy efficiencies to our private sector.  

The first is a partnership with Portsmouth City Council, and other local authority districts in 

Hampshire and Sussex, to formulate a joint bid to request £32m from Central Government 

funding rounds. If successful, this will provide up to 2,660 households across the region, with 

access to funding to increase the energy performance of private homes.  

The second is a partnership with Hampshire County Council and other local authority 

districts in Hampshire to take part in further investigatory work to identify target areas in 

Hampshire where our joint resources could be better directed to promote and link up with 

funding schemes for the benefit of the private sector.  

This work will also complement the findings of our Private Sector Housing Survey and a 

recently commissioned project, in partnership with New Forest Citizens Advice, 

Southampton University, local foodbanks and voluntary support services, to establish the 

prevalence of fuel and food poverty in our district. This project has just delivered its findings 

and officers are beginning to analyse this data in order to establish targeted actions to help 

address the issues. 

And finally, our very first Landlord Forum has just been scheduled for the 18th of November. 

Through regular forum meetings and engagement, we aim to inform landlords of greener 

housing funding schemes, ways to make properties more energy efficient and to improve 

standards generally for tenants. 

Members, I am sure that our strategic actions, coupled with our Council wide commitment to 

greener initiatives, will provide significant benefits to our residents in the coming years and of 

course, to our environment. 

13



Question 4 

From Cllr Malcolm Wade to the Portfolio Holder for Partnering and Wellbeing, Cllr 

Mark Steele 

How many criminal convictions have resulted from or included evidence from NFDC’s CCTV 

cameras in the last 12 months? 

Answer: 

Public space cameras operate in 7 towns and villages across the district providing an active 

deterrence to crime and disorder, supporting this Council’s objective of ensuring the New 

Forest is a safe place to live, work and visit.  

Over the last 12 months, the service has actively pursued 722 live incidents consisting of 

burglaries, assaults, criminal damage, anti-social behaviour and the locating of missing or 

vulnerable people. 

In addition, the service reviews hundreds of hours of CCTV footage which may be used in 

criminal or civil proceedings. Once the transfer of footage to the Police is completed, the 

constabulary become the data owner. Prosecutions can take many months, if not longer, to 

complete. 

The CCTV Service is not privy to the number of prosecutions pursued by the Police as a 

result of the CCTV data.  However, despite social restrictions and lockdowns in place during 

the pandemic, 108 evidence packages, consisting of many hours of footage, were supplied 

to the Police and the Crown Prosecution Service for the use in criminal investigations over 

the last year.  

As Portfolio Holder for the CCTV Service, I am very proud that despite the impact of Covid 

19 on services, our dedicated CCTV operatives continued to deliver a 24 hour service 

providing protection and support for both our residents and the Police. 

Note – this question was dealt with in writing in the absence of Cllr M Wade. 

Question 5 

From Cllr Mahmoud Kangarani to the Portfolio Holder for Environment and Coastal 

Services, Cllr Steve Davies 

Can the portfolio holder advise what further action is being taken to mitigate any further 

impact on residents, following green bag and bottle collection delays?  And have we seen 

any engagement from the recent push for HGV drivers? 

Answer: 

Thank you for your question. You will already have heard Cllr Heron’s statement about 

waste collection services. 

I can only repeat a large part of that statement that “We will keep working towards the most 

effective waste collection service for our community with the resources we currently have 

available to us”. Our recruitment of HGV drivers will continue and we will review our current 

service arrangement at the Cabinet meeting on 3 November 2021.  

I am particularly pleased to report that we have 7 applicants from within NFDC who have put 

their names forward for HGV driver training.  I am sure that you will agree that this is a 

welcome opportunity for career progression with NFDC. 

14



Note – in response to a supplementary question relating to the gritting of roads in the Winter 

months, the Portfolio Holder confirmed that this was a function delivered by Hampshire 

County Council. 

Question 6 

From Cllr Hilary Brand to the Leader of the Council, Cllr Edward Heron 

Does the Leader agree that Council business through virtual meetings during the pandemic, 

proved to be of a benefit to Officers and Cllrs?  And does he believe that pushing for hybrid 

meetings would engage the wider community more?  And does he accept that this will help 

our wider strategy for reducing the Council’s footprint? 

Answer: 

The use of virtual meetings during the pandemic was not only vital to allow Local 

Government and Government itself to continue, but I certainly think that it lead to a new level 

of engagement from those who perhaps wouldn’t ever have thought of watching a Council 

meeting before, some for the right reasons, some for the wrong reasons and I think we all 

remember a certain Parish Council. 

Whilst I do think it was of great benefit to councillors and officers, I also think something was 

lost in that way of working.  There is an atmosphere and a way that one works in a meeting 

like this that could never be replicated on Microsoft Teams. 

How we worked during the lockdowns is not the way we should work in the future, but how 

we worked before the lockdowns is not how we should work in the future.  There has to be a 

way that we can find to maximise those benefits for engagement, to the environment, to 

people’s lives and work life balance.  But equally, we get back the atmosphere and the 

debate that we have in a meeting such as this. 

This Council did respond to a consultation some time ago asking Government to have 

greater flexibility.  As Members know, we are constrained by law as to what meetings we can 

have virtually.  We did respond highlighting we would like to have the option of choosing 

virtual or hybrid meetings and I certainly think that should we have that option it would allow 

us to have our own debate as to where that balance lies between convenience, the 

environment and the ability to have these face-to-face and atmospheric debates and 

meetings.  

15



This page is intentionally left blank

16



 

 

 

REPORT OF CABINET 
 

(Meeting held on 3 November 2021) 
 
 
1. PARKING STANDARDS SUPPLEMENTARY PLANNING DOCUMENT (MINUTE NO 

35) 
 
 The Cabinet, having considered the work of a Task and Finish Group, agreed that a 

draft Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) be published for a six week period of 
consultation.  The SPD concerns “Parking Standards”, which will require new 
developments to contribute to the delivery of sustainable development, balancing the 
provision of car parking with key drivers such as climate change. 

 
 A balance needs to be struck between using valuable land for hard surface and parking 

in less sustainable locations and using less land for parking in sustainable locations 
where there is a choice to travel in other ways. 

 
 The Cabinet look forward to the outcome of the consultation. 
 
2. MAINTAINING WASTE AND RECYCLING COLLECTION SERVICES (MINUTE NO 

36) 
 
The Cabinet reviewed a number of options for maintaining the delivery of waste and 
recycling collection services, in the event of further pressures on the service, caused 
by a number of factors.  These include the national shortage of HGV drivers, staff 
turnover and sickness absences, COVID-19 isolations and increased tonnage of 
residual waste and recycling. 
 
Cabinet Report 5 of the Cabinet Agenda outlines in detail the current status of services 
alongside two contingency options.  The options prioritise weekly black and clear sack 
collections. 
 
The Council continues to keep the matter under review, whilst also exploring the option 
of temporarily subcontracting the bulky waste collections service, to reinstate this 
service to the public which was currently suspended.  It is important to note that there 
are no immediate plans to change services.  Residents are asked to continue as 
currently with their waste arrangements. 

 
The Cabinet commend the contingency plan as an honest appraisal of steps that might 
need to be taken to maintain service delivery. 

 
3. FINANCIAL MONITORING (MINUTE NO 37) 
 
 The Cabinet, having noted the latest budget forecasts of the General Fund, Capital 

and Housing Revenue Account, approved two service reviews, in respect of the 
Communications Service resulting in in year costs of approximately £50,000, and the 
commitment of additional resources required to support asbestos management of 
approximately £80,000. 

 
 Changes reported in September showed an increase in forecast expenditure within the 
 Capital programme, but movements within this latest report have brought this back 

more in line with the original budget. 
 
 The Council remains in a strong financial position as it heads into the final quarter of 

2021/22. 
 
 

17

Agenda Item 5

https://democracy.newforest.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=133&MId=7298


 

 

 

4. APPOINTMENTS TO OUTSIDE BODY – NEW FOREST NATIONAL PARK 
AUTHORITY (MINUTE NO 38) 

 
 The Cabinet reviewed the Council’s representatives on the New Forest National Park 

Authority, and gave effect to a new Conservative Group nomination.  The appointments 
for the remainder of the four year term ending May 2023 were agreed as follows:- 

 
 Conservative (3)   Liberal Democrats (1) 
 Cllr Diane Andrews   Cllr Caroline Rackham 
 Cllr Sue Bennison 
 Cllr Ann Sevier 
 
 
 
 

 
 

COUNCILLOR E HERON 
CHAIRMAN 

18



REPORT OF AUDIT COMMITTEE 

(Meeting held on 29 October 2021) 

 

1. REVIEW OF: ANTI-FRAUD, BRIBERY & CORRUPTION STRATEGY, 

WHISTELBLOWING POLICY AND ANTI-MONEY LAUNDERING POLICY 

The Committee have considered and recommend for approval the updated Anti-Fraud 

Bribery and Corruption Strategy, the Whistleblowing Policy, and the Anti-Money 

Laundering Policy.  

These three documents were approved in 2018, and it is good practice to review them 

every three years.   

The policies have duly been reviewed and are still considered fit for purpose, with only 

limited updates required in terms of minor amendments, e.g. definitions and simplified 

wording. 

The revised policies are as follows: 

Anti-Fraud, Bribery and Corruption Strategy 

As it states in the Policy, ‘The Council is committed to the fight against fraud, bribery 

and corruption and will not tolerate these acts in the administration of its 

responsibilities, whether from inside or outside the Council. It will deal openly and 

forcefully with anyone who acts dishonestly’ 

To help local government recognise and address their fraud risks, the Chartered 

Institute of Public Finance & Accountancy (CIPFA) produced “Fighting Fraud & 

Corruption Locally -The Local Government Counter Fraud and Corruption Strategy 

2016-2019” and a “Code of Practice on Managing the Risk of Fraud and Corruption”. 

This strategy has been constructed utilising this central guidance.   

Whistleblowing Policy 

The policy takes account of the Whistleblowing Arrangements Code of Practice issued 

by the British Standards Institute and Protect. It does not form part of any employee’s 

contract of employment and may be amended at any time. 

The aims of this policy are:  

(a) To encourage staff to report suspected wrongdoing as soon as possible, in the 

knowledge that their concerns will be taken seriously and investigated as appropriate, 

and that their confidentiality will be respected. 

(b) To provide staff with guidance as to how to raise those concerns. 

(c) To reassure staff that they should be able to raise genuine concerns without fear of 

reprisals, even if they turn out to be mistaken and they will not be subject to any 

detriment, e.g. dismissed, denied promotion, ostracised or transferred to another 

department. 

 

 

 

19

Agenda Item 6

https://democracy.newforest.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=200&MId=7346


Anti-Money Laundering Policy  

This Policy applies to all employees, contractors, suppliers and agency staff of the 

Council and aims to maintain the high standards of conduct which currently exist within 

the Council by preventing the Council from being exposed to criminal activity through 

money laundering. The Policy sets out the procedures which must be followed.  

Failure by a member of staff to comply with the procedures set out in this Policy may 

lead to disciplinary action being taken against them. Any disciplinary action will be 

dealt with in accordance with the Council's Disciplinary Policy and Procedures 

Legislation concerning money laundering, namely the Money Laundering, Terrorist 

Financing & Transfer of Funds Regulations 2017, the Proceeds of Crime Act 2002, 

and the Terrorism Act 2000 broadened the definition of money laundering and 

increased the range of activities caught by the statutory framework. As a result, the 

obligations impact on areas of local authority business and they require local 

authorities to establish internal procedures to prevent the use of their services for 

money laundering or terrorist financing.  

RECOMMENDED: 

That the updated polices (Appendices 1,2 and 3 of Report 4 of the Audit 

Committee agenda) be adopted to take effect from 1 April 2022.   

 

 

 

CLLR A O’SULLIVAN 

CHAIRMAN 

20



REPORT OF GENERAL PURPOSES AND LICENSING COMMITTEE 

(Meeting held on 22 November 2021) 

 

1.  LICENSING ACT POLICY – REVIEW OF CONSULTATION RESPONSES (MINUTE 
NO. 17) 

 
The Committee has considered the Licensing Act Policy following public consultation 

which took place between 12 September 2021 to 6 November 2021.  One 

consultation response had been received from Public Health and as a result, some 

amendments to the policy were recommended.  A further paragraph was also 

presented to the Committee to revise the policy to promote the awareness of drink 

spiking in licensed premises, which had been discussed at the previous meeting. 

Members noted the consultation undertaken and response received and supported 

the proposed amendments. 

RECOMMENDED:  

That the revised Statement of Licensing Policy in relation to the Licensing Act 

2003, attached as Appendix 1 be approved.  

 
2. GAMBLING POLICY – REVIEW OF CONSULTATION RESPONSES (MINUTE NO. 

18) 

The Committee has considered a review of the Council’s Gambling Policy.  The 

Gambling Act 2005 required a review of the Council Statement of Gambling 

Principles every three years. 

A consultation exercise was undertaken on the draft policy between 19 July 2021 and 

10 September 2021.  Two responses were received and as a result, minor 

amendments were proposed to the policy.   

Members noted the consultation undertaken and responses received and supported 

the proposed amendments. 

RECOMMENDED:  

That the revised Statement of Gambling Principles in relation to the Gambling 

Act 2005, attached as Appendix 2 be approved.  

 
 
 
 
 
 

CLLR S J CLARKE 
CHAIRMAN 

 
 

 

21

Agenda Item 7

https://democracy.newforest.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=146&MId=7503


This page is intentionally left blank



Version 03

L I C E N S I N G  A C T  2 0 0 3

Statement of 
licensing policy
2022-2026

APPENDIX 1

23



2 Statement of Licensing Policy • 2022-2026 24



Statement of Licensing Policy • 2022-2026 3

Contents

p4 1. Executive summary

p5 2. Introduction and background

p8 3. Licensing objectives

p9 4. Licensable activities

p11 5. Links to other strategies, policies and legislation

p13 6. Operating schedules

p14 7. Prevention of crime and disorder

p16 8. Public safety

p17 9. Prevention of public nuisance

p19 10. Protection of children from harm

p21 11. The licensing process

p26 12. Large scale events

p27 13. Compliance and enforcement 

p28 14. Other licensing authority powers

p30 15. Review of the policy

p31 16. Exchange of Information

p32 17. Comments on the policy

Appendices

p33 A - Table of delegations

p34 B - Glossary of terms

p37 C - Mandatory conditions

p41 D - Other relevant legislation

p44 E - Map of the district

p45 F - Responsible authorities

25



4 Statement of Licensing Policy • 2022-2026

1. Executive Summary

The Licensing Act 2003 (‘the Act’) received Royal Assent in 2003 and came fully into effect in 
2005.

This Statement of Licensing Policy has been prepared having regard to the guidance issued by 
the Secretary of State for Culture, Media and Sport under Section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003 
(‘the Act’) and as required of the licensing authority under Section 5 of the Act.

This statement sets out the policy of the licensing authority with respect to carrying out its 
licensing functions for the sale of alcohol, provision of regulated entertainment and the provision 
of late night refreshment under the Act. 

The licensing regime implemented by the Act and operated by New Forest District Council as 
licensing authority is about the appropriate control of licensed premises, qualifying clubs and 
temporary events. It also covers the people who manage these premises or hold personal 
licences within the terms of the Act. 

Applications covered by the Act and relevant to this statement include: 

• Personal licences, 

• Premises licences – including provisional statements, 

• Variations, 

• Transfers, 

• Interim authorities, 

• Temporary events, 

• Club premises certificates, 

• Designated premises supervisors and

• Reviews.

The policy sets out a general approach to making licensing decisions, however each application 
will be determined on its own merits having regard to the licensing objectives, relevant guidance 
including issued under Section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003 and local criteria. The discretion 
of the licensing authority in relation to applications is only used if relevant representations are 
made.

This statement is intended to assist officers and Members in determining applications and to 
set down those factors that will normally be taken into consideration. Equally, this document 
seeks to provide clarity for applicants, responsible authorities, residents and other occupiers of 
property and investors, with some measure of certainty.

This Policy takes effect on 1 January 2022 and will remain in force for a five-year period. During 
this time the policy will be kept under review and may be updated to reflect legislative changes 
or any local changes that materially affect the policy. Any amendments will only be made after 
consultation has taken place in accordance with Section 5(3) of the Act.

26



Statement of Licensing Policy • 2022-2026 5

2. Introduction and background

2.1 The Licensing Authority Area

New Forest District Council is one of eleven district councils plus two unitary authorities, which 
comprise the County of Hampshire. 

The New Forest District area is in the south west of Hampshire and is bounded by the Solent 
water. It is situated between Southampton to the east and Christchurch and Bournemouth to the 
west. (See Appendix E - Map of the District). 

One of the most striking features of the Forest is the open expanse of semi-natural vegetation at 
its heart which has National Park status. Much of the open forest is owned and cared for by the 
Forestry Commission working, in conjunction with a wide range of other statutory bodies and 
interest groups.

Tourism is a major part of the local economy and every year approximately 13.5 million visitors 
come to the area. 

The New Forest has many, varied licensed premises and events. There are over 700 premises 
licensed under the Act, of which over 600 are licensed to sell alcohol. These include members’ 
clubs, off licences, pubs, holiday complexes, bars, supermarkets, cinemas, theatres and boats. 
Premises not licensed to serve alcohol include village halls, schools, public places and takeaway 
food establishments. In addition, over 700 events of a temporary nature are granted each year 
through the Temporary Event Notice (TENS) application process

Large and small brewery companies have invested in the area and there is an increasing number 
of premises providing diverse menus to accompany the alcohol and soft drinks offer. There are 
also a number of internationally renowned hotels offering high class cuisine to visitors and locals 
alike.

The licensing authority recognises that premises and events play a vital part in the cultural 
identity of the forest and are contributors to the local economy. In this unique part of the UK, the 
tourists and visitors it attracts provide income for businesses and this enables a large number of 
historic country houses to be preserved and maintained for the nation through events such as 
weddings, conferences and country shows.

Licensed pubs in towns or rural villages, and small stores and shops provide a focal point for 
community life. Village halls also offer an important resource for many sectors of the community 
with events and entertainment. 

The licensing authority welcomes the opportunity to encourage the development of the 
cultural, artistic, leisure and hospitality sectors in the New Forest. It will assist all applicants in 
endeavouring to meet their aspirations within the law. The licensing authority also has regard 
to wider considerations affecting the residential population and the amenity of any area which 
include noise, littering or street crime. 

However, during the past few years there has been a change in where alcohol consumption 
takes place. The New Forest is no exception (particularly during the pandemic) with alcohol 
purchased at lower cost from off-licences or supermarkets and consumed within the home. 
This and the coronavirus pandemic has had a significant negative financial impact on licensed 
premises.

It is recognised by health professionals that harmful drinking can directly affect individuals, 
families and communities and can be detrimental to physical and mental health. Whilst licensed 
premises can provide a social environment, dependency on alcohol can also create problems 
through disruption of the home environment or wider anti-social behaviour.

27



6 Statement of Licensing Policy • 2022-2026

2.2 Premises Licences

These are issued to premises who wish to provide one or more licensable activities. Premises 
include off-licences, shops, supermarkets, pubs, bars, clubs, takeaways, hotels, golf clubs, village 
halls, cinemas, theatres and community spaces.

If a premises sells alcohol, it must have a Designated Premises Supervisor (DPS) in place to 
supervise the sale of alcohol. A DPS must also be the holder of a personal licence. There is 
no end date on a premises licence, however an annual fee is required and failure to pay this 
will result in suspension of the licence and the premises will not be able to provide licensable 
activities.

2.3 Club Premises Certificates (CPC)

CPCs are granted to members clubs who are able to prove through the operation of the club that 
they are a ‘qualifying club’. As a club they must adhere to its rulebook, elect a committee and 
be run for the benefit of its members. There is no requirement to appoint a DPS. Only members 
and guests that have been signed in by a member of the club are permitted to be supplied with 
alcohol (members of the public who are neither members or guests are not permitted to enter a 
club and be served alcohol, or take part in licensable activities).

2.4 Personal Licences

A personal licence authorises an individual to sell or supply alcohol for consumption on or off 
a licensed premises. An individual may seek a personal licence regardless of whether or not 
they have current employment or business interests associated with the use of the licence. 
Applications cannot be made in the name of a corporate body.

The Act requires every application for a personal licence to be accompanied by a recent Basic 
Level Criminal Record Disclosure (less than one month old), a pass certificate from a recognised 
training provider, the application form, a disclosure form and the correct fee.

The Police and Home Office Immigration have the right to object to a person applying for a 
personal licence if that person has a relevant unspent conviction (at the time of application) or if 
they obtain a relevant conviction during the application period of their licence.

A personal licence is granted in perpetuity; however the holder must inform the issuing authority 
of any change to their name or address to enable the licence to be updated. It is an offence 
under the Act not to do so.

2.5 Designated Premises Supervisor (DPS)

The holder of a premises licence which permits the sale of alcohol, must nominate a personal 
licence holder as the DPS for that premise. The DPS is responsible for the day to day running of 
the premises and is usually classed as the manager of the premises. Whilst it is not essential for 
the DPS to be at the premises during all hours that alcohol is permitted to be sold, they should 
oversee the daily operation of the premises and be contactable in case of emergency if not 
at the site. When the DPS is not available at the premises another member of staff should be 
nominated as a point of contact. 

Any issue regarding the licensing objectives, where the DPS is not fulfilling their role, could 
result in the review of the licence. At the hearing, Members may decide that the DPS needs to be 
replaced.

The statutory guidance indicates that a DPS may supervise more than one premises. However, 
they must be able to ensure that the four licensing objectives are properly promoted at all sites 
and the law and licence conditions are upheld. 

There is no requirement for a Club Premises Certificate to specify a DPS. This is also the case 
where the licensing authority has granted a disapplication for the DPS at a community premises.

28



Statement of Licensing Policy • 2022-2026 7

2.6 Authorisation of alcohol

The Act states that every supply of alcohol must be made under the authority of a personal 
licence holder although this does not mean that only personal licence holders can make such 
sales or that they must be personally present at every transaction.

A personal licence holder may authorise others to sell alcohol under their supervision and may 
then occasionally be absent at times from the premises when such a transaction takes place. 
Such authorisations should be given in writing and only to those persons who have been given 
sufficient training to ensure that the four licensing objectives are not compromised. The personal 
licence holder will, nevertheless, not be able to escape responsibility for the actions of those 
they authorise to make such sales.

Licence holders are encouraged to have at least one personal licence holder on the premises 
when alcohol is being sold at all times. If a personal licence holder is not on the premises for any 
reason, provision should be made for the immediate contact of the personal licence holder or 
Designated Premises Supervisor in the event of an emergency.

29



8 Statement of Licensing Policy • 2022-2026

3. Licensing objectives

The Act applies the appropriate controls on licensed premises, qualifying clubs, temporary 
events and the people who manage them or hold personal licences. Where valid representations 
are made, the licensing authority will make objective judgements as to whether conditions need 
to be attached to a licence or certificate to ensure that the four licensing objectives are promoted 
at any premises or area being used for licensable activities.

When dealing with licensing matters the licensing authority will promote and have regard to the 
four licensing objectives, which are of equal importance as set out in the Act. These are: 

• The prevention of crime and disorder 

• Public safety 

• The prevention of public nuisance and

• The protection of children from harm. 

Over consumption of alcohol can lead to health problems which not only financially impacts the 
NHS, but can have a devastating effect on families and the general health of the population. 
However, there are currently only these four licensing objectives which do not specifically refer 
to health. The Licensing Authority does recognise the issues around alcohol harm and health and 
will take them into account within the remit of the Act.

The best means of promoting the licensing objectives is through the co-operation and 
partnership of the local authority, responsible authorities, local businesses and residents. 
The licensing authority expects individual applicants to address the licensing objectives in 
their operating schedule having regard to the type of premises, the licensable activities to be 
provided, the nature of the location and the impact on the local community. 

The authority recognises that licensable activities are an important part in the cultural life of our 
community. In regulating activities under this legislation, it acknowledges that a balance must 
be struck between the legitimate objectives of applicants and the desires of the population as a 
whole. In particular those members of the public: living, working, or engaged in normal activity 
in the area concerned. A balance must be struck between these (often conflicting) positions and 
all relevant views will be taken into account when making licensing decisions or determining a 
course of action. 

Where there are no relevant representations, or they have been withdrawn at or before a 
hearing, the application will be granted as requested subject only to conditions which reflect 
the operating schedule and any mandatory conditions. Most premises do and will operate 
without any significant concerns to the licensing objectives. However, where there is a relevant 
representation, the application will usually proceed to a hearing, following which the licensing 
authority may take such steps as are necessary to promote the licensing objectives, as provided 
for in the Act.

30



Statement of Licensing Policy • 2022-2026 9

4. Licensable activities

The purpose of licensing is to regulate the carrying on of licensable activities on licensed 
premises, by qualifying clubs and at temporary events. 

Licensable activities are: 

• The retail sale of alcohol, 

• The supply of alcohol by or on behalf of a club, or to the order of a member of a club,

• The provision of regulated entertainment and

• The provision of late-night refreshment (hot food and drink at any time between 23:00 and 
05:00 for consumption on or off the premises).

Subject to certain conditions, definitions, limitations and exemptions contained within Sections 
173 to 175 of the Act, as amended, the provision of regulated entertainment for the public, or club 
members or with a view to profit, is defined as: 

• An exhibition of a film 

• A performance of a play 

• An indoor sporting event 

• Boxing or wrestling entertainment (indoor and outdoor) 

• A performance of live music 

• The playing of recorded music 

• Performance of dance 

• Entertainment of a similar description to that falling within the performance of live music, the 
playing of recorded music or the performance of dance. 

Late night refreshment, which is subject to certain exemptions, is defined in Schedule 2 of 
the Act and relates to the supply of hot food or drink to members of the public on or from any 
premises for consumption on or off the premises between 23:00hrs and 05:00hrs. 

The incidental performance of live music and incidental playing of recorded music may not be 
regarded as the provision of regulated entertainment in certain circumstances. In cases of doubt, 
advice should be sought from the licensing authority.

4.1 Regulated entertainment – Live Music

The Licensing Authority recognises the need to encourage and promote a broad range of 
entertainment, particularly live music, dancing and theatre for the wider cultural benefit of the 
community. 

When considering applications for such events and the imposition of any conditions if 
representations are received on licences or certificates, the licensing authority will carefully 
balance the need to promote the licensing objectives against these wider cultural benefits. 

Background and incidental music are not considered to be licensable, however karaoke is 
considered to be a performance of live music and singers with backing tracks, drumbeats or 
bands are classed as amplified live music.

There are a number of exemptions set out in the Act and other legislation, such as The Live 
Music Act 2012 and the Deregulation Act 2015. 

31



10 Statement of Licensing Policy • 2022-2026

The table below provides further information:

Timings Days Audience Premises Notes
Live 
unamplified 
music

Between 
08.00 
and 
23.00

Any Less than 
500 persons

Any

Live amplified 
music 

Between 
08.00 
and 
23.00

Any Less than 
500 persons

Alcohol on-licensed 
premises

Premises must be open for 
customers under the terms of 
the licence

Live amplified 
music

Between 
08.00 
and 
23.00

Any Less than 
500 persons

Non-licensed workplace

Live amplified 
music

Between 
08.00 
and 
23.00

Any Less than 
500 persons

Non-licensed Church 
hall, village hall, 
community hall or 
similar

Consent required from person 
responsible for premises

Live amplified 
music

Between 
08.00 
and 
23.00

Any Less than 
500 persons

Non-licensed residential 
premises of a local 
authority or hospital

Consent required from 
organisation responsible for 
premises

Recorded 
music

Between 
08.00 
and 
23.00

Any Less than 
500 persons

Alcohol on-licensed 
premises

Premises must be open for 
customers under the terms of 
the licence

Recorded 
music

Between 
08.00 
and 
23.00

Any Less than 
500 persons

Non-licensed Church 
hall, village hall, 
community hall or 
similar

Consent required from person 
responsible for premises

Recorded 
music

Between 
08.00 
and 
23.00

Any Less than 
500 persons

Non-licensed residential 
premises of a local 
authority or hospital

Consent required from 
organisation responsible for 
premises

Any 
entertainment

Between 
08.00 
and 
23.00

Any Less than 
500 persons

Local authority 
premises, hospital or 
school

Entertainment provided by 
the local authority, health care 
provider or school

Plays Between 
08.00 
and 
23.00

Any Less than 
500 persons

Any premises

Dance Between 
08.00 
and 
23.00

Any Less than 
500 persons

Any premises Adult entertainment dance 
remains licensable

Films Between 
08.00 
and 
23.00

Any Less than 
500 persons

Community premises Not for profit event. Consent 
required from organisation 
responsible for premises 
Screening is suitable for age 
of attendees

Indoor 
sporting 
events

Between 
08.00 
and 
23.00

Any Less than 
1000 
persons

Any premises

Greco-Roman 
wrestling or 
Freestyle 
wrestling

Between 
08.00 
and 
23.00

Any Less than 
1000 
persons

Any premises

Travelling 
circuses

Between 
08.00 
and 
23.00

Any No limit Any moveable structure 
that the audience is 
held within

Circus may not be located on 
same site for more than 28 
days

32



Statement of Licensing Policy • 2022-2026 11

5. Links to other strategies, policies and legislation 

In undertaking its licensing functions under the Act, New Forest District Council will ensure that 
licensable activities make a positive contribution to the social, economic, and environmental 
well-being of the district. The authority aims to support a diverse offering, for all, in a safe, 
healthy and welcoming environment. In particular it supports a mixed night-time economy, which 
attracts all parts of the community, including families, and is not dominated by premises whose 
primary focus is the sale of alcohol. 

It is keen to encourage family-friendly licensed premises where suitable entertainment is 
provided and to promote premises where parents and young people can enjoy their leisure time 
together. It recognises that premises within the leisure and hospitality sector of the economy 
are an important part of its district and are major contributors to the local economy, attracting 
tourists and visitors whilst sustaining vibrant towns and communities. Leisure income provides 
employment for those service sectors and income for supporting businesses, often in the 
daytime economy.

The policy statement takes account of the need to regulate businesses that operate under the 
Act whilst balancing any adverse impact of activities on members of the public who live or work 
in the area concerned. 

This policy is not intended to be a stand-alone document, but supports the statutory guidance, 
legislation and multi-agency agreements with our partners which in turn support licensed 
premises. However, should a premises be found to be transgressing and not following advice 
and instruction, the licensing authority will make use of its powers under the Act.

5.1 Diversity, human rights and crime and disorder

All licensing activities will be undertaken in the spirit of and in compliance with any diversity 
policies and all related legislation.

The Human Rights Act 1998 makes it unlawful for a public authority to act in a way incompatible 
with a convention right and therefore the authority will ensure that a licensing decision does not 
cause a breach of this right. 

Section 17 of the Crime and Disorder Act 1998 introduced a wide range of measures preventing 
crime and disorder and imposed a duty on the District Council, Hampshire Constabulary, 
Hampshire County Council and others, to consider crime reduction in the exercising of all their 
duties.  The Act complements this duty for licensing authorities.

5.2 Avoidance of duplication

It is not the intention of this policy to duplicate other regulatory regimes by imposing conditions 
that require general compliance. Where existing law (for example, health and safety at work 
or fire safety legislation) places certain statutory responsibilities on an employer or operator 
of premises, then licensing controls will not impose the same or similar duties. Licensees must 
maintain compliance with all regulatory regimes and are encouraged to adopt best practice 
wherever possible. 

33



12 Statement of Licensing Policy • 2022-2026

5.3 Planning requirements

Whilst planning and licensing regimes will be properly separated to avoid duplication and 
inefficiency, the use of premises for sale or provision of alcohol, provision of entertainment or 
late night refreshment is subject to planning control. Such use will normally require planning 
permission or must otherwise be lawful, ie have a lawful development certificate under planning 
legislation. Planning permission is usually required for new premises or change of use of 
premises.  However, whilst the licensing authority and planning should liaise with the aim of 
reaching determinations of mutually acceptable operating hours and scheme designs, it should 
be noted that there is no legal basis for the licensing authority to refuse a licence application 
because it does not have the required planning permission.

Applicants should be aware that on occasions as a condition of the planning permission, an 
earlier closing time or a later opening time may be set for the premises for commercial purposes.  
Where the operating hours are different to the licensing hours, the applicant must observe the 
earlier closing time or later opening hour. A licence issued under the 2003 Act does not override 
any restriction placed on the premises by the planning authority. Premises operating in breach of 
their planning permission could be liable to prosecution under planning law.

In addition, the licensing authority is not bound by decisions made by the planning authority and 
vice versa. The licensing authority can only address licensing objectives and must ensure that 
any hearing does not in effect become a re-run of any planning hearing.

Licence applications should only generally be received regarding premises where:

• The activity to be authorised by the licence is lawful under the planning use of the premises,

• The hours sought do not exceed those authorised by any planning permission; and

• Any existing hours are appropriate for the use of the premises.

34



Statement of Licensing Policy • 2022-2026 13

6. Operating schedules 

The operating schedule forms part of the completed application form for a premises licence. 
Specific requirements on what it should contain and how it should be presented are contained 
in Section 17 of the Act and in regulations. However, the matters set out below are intended to 
assist applicants when completing the application form and operating schedule. 

Measures proposed by the applicant in the operating schedule, where relevant to the four 
licensing objectives, will be incorporated as conditions within the licence and will become 
enforceable. Proposed conditions must be interpreted by the licensing authority in accordance 
with the applicant’s intention, which means that they may be worded slightly differently in the 
premises licence than the original application. This is to ensure that any condition on the licence 
is proportionate and applicable to that individual premises.

Special measures may be necessary on an occasional or specific basis such as when a special 
event or promotion is planned which is likely to attract larger customer groups/audiences of 
a different nature. These can have a significant impact on the achievement of the licensing 
objectives and reference must be made to such occasions in an applicant’s operating schedule 
and additional measures to achieve the licensing objectives. 

Any application regarding licensing hours will, accordingly, be considered on its individual merits 
and this policy makes no presumption about closing times.

35



14 Statement of Licensing Policy • 2022-2026

7. Prevention of crime and disorder

The Council acting as the licensing authority has a duty to act solely or with its partners to reduce crime and 
disorder in the New Forest. Applicants are required by law to set out in their operating schedule the steps they 
propose to promote the prevention of crime and disorder. The extent to which conditions should be introduced 
to control the matters detailed below will be dependent on the location, character and condition of the premises, 
and the proposed events and activities.  In general, more comprehensive measures should be in place at late night 
entertainment venues or in premises with a history of crime and disorder issues.

7.1 Under-age drinking

The consumption of alcohol by persons under the age of 18 is recognised as a source of potential crime and 
disorder which also puts young people’s health at risk.  Children and young people can obtain alcohol from both on 
and off-licensed premises and therefore both carry equal responsibility to prevent such sales. Operating schedules 
should contain measures to ensure that the law and practice relating to age restricted sales is adhered to. 

Particular attention should be given to the training of new members of staff to ensure that they are fully aware of 
their legal responsibilities and compliance required under the Act. Refresher training should also be carried out 
periodically to keep staff up to date on changes to legislation. 

All premises licensed to sell alcohol are expected to have a policy in place and implement the Challenge 25 
standard or any replacement scheme.

7.2 Pubwatch schemes

The licensing authority recognises the value of Pubwatch schemes which assist in reducing crime and disorder 
on licensed premises and will play a supportive role and attend meetings as appropriate. Pubwatch provides a 
forum for sharing information and disseminating best practice which help to support the licensing objectives, whilst 
addressing the issues of safety for customers and employees. The licensing authority expects participation from 
licensees in areas where the schemes are run.

7.3 Drugs in premises

The supply and use of illegal drugs by individuals is not something that is relevant to all licensed premises, 
however, applicants should offer appropriate conditions as part of the application to assist in the prevention of 
drug use in their premises.

The licensing authority expects licensees to have a zero-tolerance policy with regard to illegal drugs. Managers of 
premises have a duty to inform and co-operate with the police and take all reasonable steps to prevent the entry, 
use and exchange of illegal drugs on a licensed premises. This should include regular toilet area checks, recording 
of incidents and suitable storage, disposal and transfer of confiscated and found drugs to the police. Suitable 
notices stating that the management has adopted a zero-tolerance policy towards drugs should be displayed in 
appropriate areas. 

Licensees should also consider what measures can be taken to prevent the spiking of drinks at a premise, i.e. 
where drugs or alcohol are added to someone’s drink without them knowing. Safety measures may include 
encouraging customers to ensure their drinks are not left unattended and the use of publicity material to remind 
customers to remain vigilant.

If a customer suspects that their drink has been spiked, this should be reported to the police immediately and the 
customer cared for appropriately. Staff should be trained regarding the possibility of drink spiking and the action 
to take if this occurs. CCTV can also be a valuable tool in determining the circumstances of any spiking event and 
provide evidence for the police.

7.4 Door supervisors

The licensing authority recognises that good security plans and the provision of door staff can prevent crime and 
assist in controlling young people from unlawfully gaining entry or accessing alcohol.

When deciding if a condition requiring door supervisors is appropriate, applicants should consider the location and 
capacity of premises together with the hours of operation. 

36



Statement of Licensing Policy • 2022-2026 15

7.5 CCTV

CCTV can be an important means of deterring and detecting crime and antisocial behaviour at, and 
immediately outside, licensed premises. Applicants are encouraged to consider the installation of CCTV 
at licensed premises to assist with the protection of staff and the promotion of the licensing objectives. 

Applicants should identify in the operating schedule what systems of security, supervision by staff, and/
or CCTV will be in place. 

CCTV recordings must be able to be accessed and downloaded at all times by a member of staff, kept 
for a minimum of 31 days and shared with the licensing authority and Hampshire Police upon request. 
When considering the use of surveillance camera systems, either as part of the conditions attached 
to a licence or certificate, or within an operating schedule the licensing authority or applicant must 
in particular have regard to Code of Practice on CCTV published by the Information Commissioner’s 
Office.

7.6 Toughened/safety glasses and bottles

Glass-related injuries, whether accidental or due to violent crime, can lead to major life changing 
injuries. In outside areas, broken drinking glasses and bottles can cause glass injuries particularly 
in gardens where there are children’s play areas. The licensing authority encourages the use of 
toughened or polycarbonate glassware or plastic drinking vessels wherever possible.

Outside licensed premises, glass containers as well as being potential weapons, add to street debris, 
pose risks to street cleaners and pedestrians and generally undermine the objective to minimise public 
nuisance. It is therefore important that glasses and bottles are frequently collected to ensure they do 
not accumulate or are used to cause harm.

If special events such as televised sporting events or outside functions are to be held at the premises, 
operators should consider whether the use of polycarbonate glasses would be more appropriate and 
when replacing stock, opt for toughened glassware.

7.7 Open drink containers

Drinks purchased in licensed premises or clubs may only be taken from site for consumption elsewhere, 
if the licence permits off-sales and therefore no bottles or glasses (sealed or unsealed) can be taken 
from a premises whose licence permits on site sales only. 

An off-sale licence may include a condition which prevents alcohol from being taken off site in unsealed 
containers.

Attached to Club Premises Certificates is a mandatory condition that requires all off-sales to be made in 
sealed containers and to a member of the club, not a guest. 

7.8 Employment of illegal workers

The Immigration Act 2016 introduced a “Right to Work” test for personal licence and individual premises 
licence holders (where the licence permits alcohol sales and/or late night refreshment). The Home 
Office Immigration Enforcement department became a responsible authority under the Licensing Act 
2003. Premises licence holders, as employers, have a duty to ensure that their employees have a right 
to work in the UK. Businesses must have robust procedures to check the identity documents of staff 
and schedule further checks on at least six-monthly intervals during the time they are employed.

The licensing authority will work with Immigration Enforcement to ensure that employees are not 
illegally brought into the UK to be exploited in licensed premises. Any offences committed under the 
Immigration Act are considered relevant offences for the purposes of a personal licence and will be 
notified to the Home Office. The penalties are substantial and statutory guidance reinforces the serious 
nature of such offences stating that revocation of the licence should be seriously considered where a 
review is brought before Members for illegal immigration activity.

The Act requires applicants to submit supporting documents with premises and personal licence 
applications to confirm that the individual has the Right to Work in the UK and the licensing authority 
will refuse applications where this is not provided. 

37



16 Statement of Licensing Policy • 2022-2026

8. Promotion of public safety

The licensing authority is committed to ensuring the physical safety of staff and customers whilst 
on licensed premises. Applicants should carefully consider how they intend to promote the 
public safety objective in their operating schedule.  

Where applicants consider that the public safety objective could be compromised by their 
intended activities, they are encouraged to contact the Council’s Food and Safety Team and/or 
Hampshire Fire and Rescue Service as the most relevant responsible authorities for guidance.

In addition to provisions under the Act, other legislation regulates the safety of customers and 
staff as identified at Appendix D.

8.1 Sky lanterns

Sky lanterns can pose a fire risk, can be mistaken for distress flares, and can mislead aircraft. In 
addition, debris from sky lanterns can pose a danger to livestock particularly in the forest and 
can cause unsightly litter. In view of these risks, the authority does not support the use or release 
of sky lanterns from any licensed premises.

38



Statement of Licensing Policy • 2022-2026 17

9. Prevention of public nuisance

Licensed premises have significant potential to adversely impact communities through public 
nuisance arising from their operation.  Public nuisance concerns how the activity of one person 
or business affects the rights of others, for example, how noise from music interferes with the 
right of others to sleep.  The licensing authority recognises the need to prevent public nuisance 
to residents, visitors and other businesses by licensed premises.

Premises licence holders must balance residents’ rights with the business operation and take 
this into account when developing or changing the nature of their business.

In considering what constitutes a public nuisance the licensing authority will make a judgement 
as to whether the effect of the licensable activities on those living or working in the area around 
the premises, is disproportionate or unreasonable. It is accepted that such disturbance could 
affect small numbers of people and does not need to cause a major disturbance to the whole 
community. Issues which could be considered as public nuisance are mainly noise, light pollution 
from overly bright or flashing lights and litter. 

Applicants should carefully consider how they intend to promote the prevention of public 
nuisance objective in their operating schedule. This could include the following:

9.1 Disturbance by patrons leaving the premises

Staff who manage premises should take appropriate measures to minimise noise and 
disturbance to residents in the immediate area of a premises.

Management, staff and door supervisors are encouraged to be proactive in assisting customers 
to leave the premises in an orderly manner, to reduce the nuisance to neighbours from noisy 
patrons, especially after midnight. Residents can be detrimentally affected by late night venues 
and premises should look at procedures and staff training to minimise impact on the locality. 
Operators of any premises licensed under the Act should consider placing notices at exits to 
remind customers to respect neighbours. 

9.2 Takeaway premises

This policy applies across the range of premises licensed under the Act, including late night 
refreshment venues where the licensable activity provides customers with hot food or drink 
between 23.00hrs and 05.00hrs. These premises can attract large groups of customers who 
have consumed considerable quantities of alcohol in bars and clubs who then cause noise and 
disturbance in the vicinity, long after licensed premises have closed.

It is important that policies and controls are in place for dealing with disorder and nuisance and 
also customer’s litter.

9.3 Noise nuisance

Noise can come either directly or indirectly from licensed premises. Direst noise, such as that 
from entertainment activity will be under the direct control of the management, whereas indirect 
noise from vehicles and customers coming to and from the premises may not be under the direct 
control but operators can strongly influence behaviour and attitude. Notices can be placed on 
the premises to remind customers to be mindful of residents and neighbours when leaving a 
premises.

Any conditions necessary to promote the licensing objectives should be tailored to the style and 
characteristics of the particular premises and include restrictions which ensure that the volume 
of amplified entertainment sound is under the control of the licensee or management and not 
accessible to the public.

39



18 Statement of Licensing Policy • 2022-2026

Where applications lead to representations about noise, all appropriate conditions will normally 
focus on the most sensitive periods (late evening until the early hours of the morning when 
nearby residents are trying to sleep). Smoking areas may lead to noise issues and should 
therefore be positioned to reduce noise disturbance. These outside areas should be monitored 
throughout the evening, with particular attention  after 22:00hrs and numbers limited in these 
areas, where possible.

9.4 Noise from beer gardens 

The consumption of alcohol is not itself a licensable activity, however operators must make 
provision for their outside areas, where customers congregate to consume food and/or drink.

The plan should include the outside areas (beer gardens) as part of the premises to allow for 
the sale of alcohol ‘for consumption ON the premises’, or OFF-sales should be requested on an 
application.

The use of outside areas can cause nuisance to neighbours and operators must ensure that staff 
regularly check any outside areas adjacent to the premises to reduce the likelihood of nuisance. 
Complaints of nuisance may lead to a review of the licence by an Agency or neighbours and 
ultimately could result in Members reducing the hours of use of this area. 

9.5 Waste/litter

Licensed premises of all types can potentially cause public nuisance from litter and waste. There 
are a number of laws relating to proper disposal and collection of waste and whilst the Act does 
not duplicate these laws, the licence holder will need to have a good waste management plan to 
prevent public nuisance. 

Uncontrolled litter is unsightly, can cause odours and may attract vermin, posing a public 
health risk. The licensing authority requires that licence holders provide suitable litter bins for 
customers to dispose of packaging, food waste and cigarette debris and arrange for the removal 
of refuse/litter at regular intervals.

40



Statement of Licensing Policy • 2022-2026 19

10. Protection of children from harm

The licensing authority is committed to protecting children from moral, psychological and 
physical harm and in particular, children should be protected from exposure to strong language, 
sexual expletives and adult entertainment. For the purpose of this policy, anyone less than 18 
years of age is considered to be a child or young person unless otherwise agreed.

10.1 Child Sexual Exploitation 

The exploitation and abuse of victims can happen anywhere, including on licensed premises. 
The risks to children will vary depending on the type of licensing activity and the age of the 
children. Under the Act, licence holders and designated premises supervisors have a legal 
responsibility to make sure children and young people are protected from harm at their premises. 

Operators of licensed premises are expected to: 

1. Understand their responsibilities with regard to the signs of child sexual exploitation and 
understand that the sexual exploitation of a child is a crime; and 

2. Raise the awareness of their staff about the issues of child sexual exploitation, record 
any suspicious incidents and be confident on how and what to report to the appropriate 
authorities.  

Care must be taken when staff are appointed, to ensure that such individuals are not placed in an 
environment where they can exploit their position.

Applicants should address the following in their daily operation and provide measures 
(conditions) in the operating schedule, where relevant to their particular premises, to uphold the 
protection of children from harm licensing objective; 

All premises must have in place: 

• Steps to prevent children from being exposed to drugs, drug taking or drug dealing;

• Steps to prevent children from being exposed to incidents of violence or disorder; 

• Measures to prevent children from being exposed to environmental pollution such as 
excessive noise; 

• Measures to prevent children from being exposed to special hazards such as falls from 
height.

Premises licensed for the sale of alcohol/entertainment must make:

• Arrangements to prevent children from acquiring or consuming alcohol; 

• Arrangements for the appropriate instruction, training and supervision of staff to prevent 
children from acquiring or consuming alcohol; 

• Arrangements to prevent children from being exposed to gambling (gaming machines on 
licensed premises); 

• Take steps to prevent children from being exposed to entertainment of an adult or sexual 
nature; 

• Arrangements for appropriate instruction, training and supervision of those employed or 
engaged to secure the protection of children from harm; 

• Have means for ensuring that persons supervising children are suitable and where 
necessary, disclosures obtained from the Disclosure and Barring Service. 

41



20 Statement of Licensing Policy • 2022-2026

10.2 Proof of Age Schemes

All premises licences which permit the sale of alcohol have a mandatory condition attached to 
them to ensure that an adequate age verification system is in place to prevent children from 
obtaining alcohol from licensed premises.  Applicants must, therefore, demonstrate that they 
have satisfactory arrangements in place to prevent sales of alcohol to children, which includes a 
recognised proof-of-age scheme. 

The licensing authority supports appropriate age-related policies in licensed premises and the 
following are examples of documents which could be used to verify age;

• Passport,

• Photo card driving licence issued in the European Union,

• Proof of Age Standards Scheme Card (PASS),

• Official ID card issued by the HM Forces or by a European Union country bearing a photo 
and date of birth of holder.

The authority supports the PASS accreditation system, which aims to approve and accredit 
various proofs of age schemes that are in existence. This ensures that such schemes maintain 
high standards, particularly in the area of integrity and security. Staff should receive regular and 
adequate training relating to age restricted sales and this should be documented and kept for 
inspection. 

Where premises are providing film exhibitions, the licensing authority will expect licensees or 
clubs to include in their operating schedules, arrangements for restricting children from viewing 
age-restricted films classified according to the recommendations of the British Board of Film 
Censors or the licensing authority itself.

10.3 Proxy sales

A proxy sale takes place when an adult purchases alcohol for an under-age child and gives the 
alcohol to the child. Procedures must be in place to ensure that all members of staff working 
at the premises are routinely trained and regularly reminded of their responsibilities in relation 
to the issue of proxy sales of alcohol. They should ensure that reasonable procedures are in 
place and implemented to prevent adults purchasing alcohol for those who are underage. Steps 
must also be in place to ensure that any designated premises supervisors and members of staff 
involved with the delivery of alcohol to residential addresses are aware of their responsibilities to 
ensure that no alcohol is sold to persons underage.

42



Statement of Licensing Policy • 2022-2026 21

11. The licensing process

Under the The Act, any individual or body may apply for a variety of permissions and have each 
application considered on its individual merit. A licensing committee, sub-committee, or licensing 
officers acting under delegated authority, carry out the powers of the licensing authority under 
the Act, in accordance with the Council’s scheme of delegation. 

Many of the licensing procedures are largely administrative with no perceived areas of 
contention and therefore in the interests of efficiency and effectiveness licensing officers 
generally carry out these roles. Please refer to Appendix A for the table of delegations.

Any responsible authority or other person has a right to make relevant representations on an 
application or to seek a review of a licence or certificate where provision has been made for 
them to do so in the Act and a licensing sub-committee would deal with these matters. 

11.1 Making an application

All applications for premise licences, club premises certificates, variations and provisional 
statements must be made in accordance with the Act, associated regulations and guidance. 
Guidance notes are available from the licensing department or the Home Office and an applicant 
may seek independent advice from an agent or solicitor.

Applicants should address the licensing objectives in their operating schedule having particular 
regard to public safety, noise nuisance and the prevention of crime and disorder and the 
measures to control these.  

Before submitting an application, the licensing authority would encourage dialogue with 
licensing officers and responsible authorities to enable the applicant to fully understand the 
requirements of the Act and the expectations of the responsible authorities.

11.2 The application form

The operating schedule should include all the necessary information to enable responsible 
authorities, or other persons, to assess whether the steps to be taken to promote the licensing 
objectives are satisfactory and have been fully addressed.

Applicants are strongly advised to undertake a thorough and appropriate risk assessment of 
their business in order to arrive at a detailed operating schedule which identifies and meets all 
necessary steps to promote the licensing objectives in relation to the application made. Where 
the operating schedule does not provide enough details, there is an increased likelihood that 
representations will be made, which could lead to a hearing.

Applicants should have regard to this licensing policy when preparing their operating schedules 
so that they are aware of the expectations of the licensing authority and of the other responsible 
authorities. Specific application requirements are detailed in this policy document. Relevant 
legislation and guidance documents should also be accessed before submitting an application.

11.3 Application consultations

Applicants are legally obliged to give notice of their application in two ways:

• By displaying an A4 blue notice at the premises for a period of 28 days, and 

• Placing a notice in a local newspaper. 

Each notice must clearly state the nature of the application, date by which representations must 
be made, where the application can be viewed in full and where representations must be sent.

This will ensure that all those who have rights under the Act and may be affected by an 
application, can make a representation. There is no other provision for advertising the 
application, however details are also published on the New Forest District Council website.

43



22 Statement of Licensing Policy • 2022-2026

11.4 Representations

Only relevant representations or objections may be taken into account when considering an 
application. To be relevant, a representation must address the likely effect of the grant (or 
variation) of a premises licence on the promotion of at least one of the licensing objectives. 
Whilst representations may refer to issues which would be considered under other legislation 
such as planning, parking or transport in the area, these matters will not be taken into account. 
The addition of a licensed premises to the number in the area (ie. the need for licensed premises) 
is also not considered as relevant under the Act. 

The licensing authority must judge whether representations are irrelevant, frivolous or vexatious.

Representations may be received from the responsible authorities (see Appendix F) and from 
“other persons”. Greater weight will be given to representations from those who live or are 
involved in a business in the area and who are more likely to be affected by the application.

Elected members may make a representation in their own right or on behalf of residents. In both 
cases, the elected member may not take part in the decision process.

Once submitted to the licensing authority, a representation becomes a public document. A copy 
of the representation is sent to the applicant and / or the agent acting on their behalf and is 
included in any report that is presented at a licensing committee hearing. All parties making a 
representation against an application are invited to attend the hearing to make their case.

11.5 Determination of applications

New or variation applications must be granted on the terms set out in the application, under 
delegated powers, and are effective from the day after the 28-day representation period ends, 
unless relevant representations are made.

The licensing authority will consider all relevant representations having regard to the Statement 
of Licensing Policy, the Act and section 182 guidance and will determine each application on its 
individual merits.

Where required, licensing officers will act to liaise with the applicant, those making a 
representation and the responsible authorities, to establish if a settlement is possible to 
overcome the representations without the need for the matter to go before the licensing sub-
committee. 

Where relevant representations remain unresolved, members of a licensing sub-committee will 
determine the application at a hearing. In relation to crime and disorder and or prevention of 
public nuisance, particular consideration will be given to :

• The location and impact of licensed activity,

• The intended use and the numbers likely to attend the premise,

• The proposed hours of operation,

• The scope for mitigating any impact and

• How often the activity occurs.

and in considering any application relating to a premises which currently has a licence, the 
licensing sub-committee will take into account any evidence of:

• The suitable historical operation of the premises and

• Any previous negative impact from the activity, especially on local residents or businesses.

44



Statement of Licensing Policy • 2022-2026 23

11.6 Licensing Sub-Committee hearings

Whilst contested licensing applications are held in a formal setting, the licensing sub-committee 
are aware that some attendees (applicants or those who have submitted representations) may 
not be comfortable in such a setting. However, some degree of formality is needed to ensure 
that all parties receive a fair hearing and that all parties are able to express their views openly.

In hearing the case, the licensing sub-committee may:

• Grant the application as applied for,

• Grant the application but with changes to the licensable activities and /or hours of operation,

• Grant the application but impose additional conditions to assist with the promotion of one or 
more of the licensing objectives,

• Refuse to grant the application.

Whilst the licensing sub-committee usually meets in public, it does have power to hear certain 
applications and to receive legal advice in private.  A decision is made publicly when the matter 
has been determined.

A party aggrieved by the decision of the licensing authority has the right of appeal to the 
Magistrates’ Court. Any appeal must be lodged within 21 days of the notification of the decision. 

11.7 Conditions 

The licensing process keeps control of licensed premises, and other events within the terms of 
the Act. As part of this control, conditions may be attached to licences, and the various other 
permissions, which focus on matters falling within the control of individual licence holders. 

The applicant must provide conditions on the application form to demonstrate how the 
business will be operated and measures proposed to promote the licensing objectives. These 
conditions will be replicated on the premises licence or certificate granted. All conditions must 
be meaningful, practical, understandable and achievable, whilst not overlapping with other 
legislation. 

The licensing authority has produced a list of suggested conditions, that applicants may refer 
to, however these are not prescriptive. Only conditions necessary for the promotion of the 
licensing objectives will be attached to the licence and they should not be imprecise or difficult 
for the licence holder to observe. It is not acceptable for licensing authorities to simply replicate 
the wording from an applicant’s operating schedule and therefore they may interpret proposed 
conditions, whilst maintaining the applicant’s original meaning.  

Mandatory conditions are applied to all licences/certificates and address issues such as 
irresponsible drinks promotions, measures of alcohol available, the responsibilities of club 
premises and management of a premises. The current conditions at the time of print are 
provided in Appendix C.

A licensing authority may impose conditions following a hearing; however, they can only relate to 
representations received, must meet the licensing objectives and must not be disproportionate 
or over burdensome.  Conditions may be tailored to the circumstances of each individual case, 
the characteristics of the premises or the event. 

In addition, licence conditions will not seek to replicate offences which are set out in the Act or 
where other adequate legislative control exists.

45



24 Statement of Licensing Policy • 2022-2026

11.8 Variation applications

The existing premises that propose a change to the licence or certificate may apply to vary the 
licence by way of a full variation or a minor variation. 

11.8.1 Full variation

All variation applications must be made in accordance with the statutory requirements and 
guidance. The full variation process mirrors the procedure that new licence applicants are 
required to follow. The application must be accompanied by the appropriate fee, advertised on 
the premises and in a newspaper and notified to the responsible authorities. There is a 28-
day representation period and the criteria for representations replicates that required for new 
applications. 

11.8.2 Minor variation

The Act allows a simplified procedure for varying a licence where the proposed changes will not 
have a detrimental effect on the licensing objectives. It cannot be used to enlarge the licensed 
area or to increase the hours for the sale or supply of alcohol. 

The minor variation process may be used for changes such as:

• Minor changes to the structure or layout of a premises

• Small adjustments to the licensing hours

• Removal of out of date irrelevant or unenforceable conditions

• Addition of certain licensable activities including live music and

• To disapply the mandatory condition requiring the sale of alcohol to be carried out under 
the authority of a personal licence holder and the need to have a designated premises 
supervisor in community premises.

The application to alter the times of other licensable activities will be considered on a case-by-
case basis considering the nature of the licensable activity, the additional hours sought, the 
proximity of the premises to residential areas, when the proposed extension will apply and the 
track record and history of the premises.

Applicants for minor variations may volunteer conditions to remove the risk of an adverse impact 
on the licensing objectives either as a result of their own risk assessments or after informal 
discussions with the responsible authorities. The licensing authority cannot impose their own 
conditions during a minor variation procedure and there is no right of appeal for a refused minor 
variation.

Applicants should contact the authority at an early stage to determine if the proposed changes 
are appropriate to the minor variation process or if they warrant a full variation.

11.8.3 Variation of Designated Premises Supervisor (DPS)

A DPS is specified on every premises licence where the sale of alcohol takes place (except club 
premises certificates). The DPS may be varied to allow another person to take over that role, 
should there be changes in staff at the premises.  To vary the DPS, the application must be 
submitted by the premises licence holder and the new DPS must consent to take on the role. The 
police are consulted on these applications.

If the police believe that the change will undermine the prevention of crime and disorder 
licensing objective, the officer will give the licensing authority and the applicant a notice (within 
14 days of receipt of the application) stating the reasons for this decision.

46



Statement of Licensing Policy • 2022-2026 25

11.9 Temporary Event Notices 

Under the Act a ‘light touch’ notification process permits events that are of a short duration. A 
Temporary Event Notice (TEN) can be used to allow activities at a non-licensed location or to 
extend hours or activities for those that already hold a permission.

A TEN can allow events such as school PTA events where organisers wish to sell alcohol, or at 
functions where a pay bar is provided such as weddings. Applications are considered by the 
Police and Environmental Health who are able to object, however no other person or party can 
object to this notice. 

TENs are subject to the following limitations: 

• The number of times a premises user may give a TEN (50 times in a calendar year for a 
personal licence holder and 5 times in a calendar year for other people) 

• The number of times a TEN may be given for any particular premises (15 times in a calendar 
year)

• The maximum duration of an event authorised by a TEN is 168 hours (7 days) 

• The maximum total duration of the events authorised by TENs in relation to individual 
premises (21 day in a calendar year)

• The maximum people attending at any one time (fewer than 500) and 

• The minimum period between events authorised under separate TENs in relation to the 
same premises (not including withdrawn TENs) by the same premises user (24 hours). 

Proposed activities that exceed these limits will require a premises licence or club premises 
certificate. 

Premises users should note that an event beginning before midnight and continuing into the next 
day counts as 2 days towards the 21-day limit. 

Applicants are encouraged to give at least 1 months’ notice before the proposed date of the 
event and not more than 3 months, to ensure that the notification reflects current fees and 
guidance and to allow organisers to plan their events safely.  

11.9.1 Standard TEN 

A standard TEN must be given no later than 10 working days before the event to which it relates.

The Police or Environmental Health may issue an Objection Notice where they consider that any 
of licensing objectives may be undermined. The applicant can agree to modify the TEN but if no 
agreement is reached, a hearing will be arranged before a licensing sub-committee. 

At the hearing, Members may agree to the TEN as submitted; or agree the TEN, subject to the 
conditions of the existing licence/certificate for the venue. Alternatively, the licensing authority 
may reject the TEN and issue a counter notice to prevent the event going ahead. 

11.9.2 Late TEN

A ‘late TEN’ may be given up to 5 working days but no earlier than 9 working days before the 
event is due to take place. 

The Police or Environmental Health may object to a late TEN and then there is no provision for a 
hearing and the authority must serve a counter notice to prevent the event going ahead. 

47



26 Statement of Licensing Policy • 2022-2026

12. Large scale events 

In addition to permissions granted under the Act for premises licences or TENs, the licensing 
authority will expect event organisers of large events to approach the authority at the earliest 
opportunity by submission of a notification of the event to the Safety Advisory Group (SAG).

This includes events that are temporary but where more than 499 people are expected to 
attend. These events may pose greater risk to public safety and crime and disorder as well as 
public nuisance, if not planned and managed effectively and may involve the preparation of a 
substantial operating schedule.

The licensing authority and other statutory consultees (including Hampshire Constabulary, 
Hampshire Fire and Rescue, Hampshire County Council Public Health, Emergency Planning and 
Highways, New Forest District Council Environmental and Regulation) should be given notice of 
the event at the earliest opportunity, prior to a formal application being submitted.

The event organiser should consider how their event will take place safely and how it will impact 
on the surrounding area. For large events such as festivals, the licensing authority will expect to 
receive an event management plan to be submitted with their application for a licence. An event 
management plan should be a working document to include information which outlines how the 
premises will be run during the event. Details should be provided of (although not limited to): 

• Roles and responsibilities of the event organiser, 

• Crowd management, 

• Contractor management, 

• Electrical, gas and water supply, 

• Temporary structures, 

• Fire safety,

• Medical and first aid provision, 

• Site accessibility, 

• Traffic Management (including blue routes), 

• Security staff/stewards/marshals, 

• Incident management, 

• Health and Safety management for members of the public, 

• Welfare provision for members of the public. 

The licensing authority requires they are given at least 4 months for larger events to allow for 
sufficient lead in time. These events include open air concerts, music festivals, trade shows, 
agricultural shows, open air entertainment, sporting events, processions, parades and carnivals, 
firework displays etc. 

Further details can be found on the website at: www.newforest.gov.uk/article/1378/Public-
events-safety-advice. 

The aims and objectives of the SAG are to provide safety information and advice to event 
organisers and to foster good working relationships. The SAG will promote best practice and 
encourage co-operation between its members to ensure that public safety is always paramount 
for event organisers. 

Following consultation, advice and guidance may be given on a one-to-one basis from a SAG 
member to the organiser, however, in more complex cases or where considered appropriate, the 
SAG will meet as a group with the organiser to discuss details of the event where there is the 
potential to present a significant risk to public safety. 

48



Statement of Licensing Policy • 2022-2026 27

13. Compliance and enforcement 

13.1 General enforcement

The licensing authority will promote good practice in relation to the operation of licensed premises 
and will work closely with stakeholders to achieve improvements in standards over reasonable 
periods of time. 

The licensing authority will seek to work actively with the police and other partners in enforcing 
licensing legislation. In general, action is taken in accordance with agreed enforcement principles 
and policies of all responsible authorities. The key principles of consistency, transparency and 
proportionality are acknowledged. 

A graduated response is taken where there is evidence of contravention of licensing legislation or 
licence conditions. Whilst an isolated or minor breach might be dealt with by way of an oral or written 
warning, more serious breaches and consistent lower-level pattern of continued problems could result 
in a review of the licence or prosecution. Where contraventions or concerns as to compliance with 
regulations enforced by other agencies are identified during enforcement activities, these matters will 
be reported to the relevant agency. 

13.2 Inspection of licensed premises

The licensing authority will inspect premises on a risk-based approach to secure compliance with 
the Act and promote the licensing objectives. Licensed premises will be risk rated so as to develop a 
proportionate and targeted inspection program.

13.3 Complaints against licensed premises

The licensing authority will investigate complaints against New Forest licensed premises. In the 
case of a valid complaint, the licensing authority will initially endeavour to seek a resolution through 
informal means, whilst adopting an incremental approach to compliance.

Where appropriate, the licensing authority will forward details of a complaint for investigation by 
another statutory agency, if the complaint falls under their enforcement powers.

The authority will liaise with the police and other responsible authorities, on enforcement issues, to 
support a targeted approach to problem and high-risk premises. Lower risk premises that are well run, 
will benefit from support and advice when required from licensing officers and the police.

13.4 Reviews of licences

The Act sets out the arrangements to enable a review of a premises licence where it is alleged that 
the licensing objectives are not being promoted. A responsible authority, or any other person may ask 
the licensing authority to review the licence or certificate at any stage. 

Following submission of a review application, the responsible authority or other person has 28 days to 
provide evidence to show the adverse impact the premises is having on one or more of the licensing 
objectives. This will be used to assist Members in making a decision at a hearing.

Any review of a licence will take place before a licensing sub-committee made up of elected New 
Forest District Councillors. If the sub-committee considers that one or more of the licensing objectives 
is being undermined, the licence or certificate may be suspended, hours may be curtailed, DPS may 
be removed, or the licence revoked completely. 

Suspension of a licence or certificate may be considered in some circumstances to allow management 
a period of time to rectify the issues that led to the review and to put in place measures to prevent 
further occurrences. It can also be considered to prevent a repeat of the issue which led to the review. 

Any repeat sales of alcohol to children will be considered gravely and Member will consider 
appropriate options, including revocation of the licence. Revocation will also be considered where the 
crime prevention objective is being undermined, even if this is the first instance.

49



28 Statement of Licensing Policy • 2022-2026

14. Other licensing authority powers

The licensing authority will not use its powers to dictate whether there is a market need for 
additional licensed premises within the district and will not seek to impose a ceiling on the 
number of licensed premises either overall or by class of premises, either by use of the policy or 
practice. This is a decision for the planning authority and the commercial sector to consider. 

14.1 Cumulative Impact Policy 

The Secretary of State’s Section 182 guidance on the Licensing Act 2003 defines Cumulative 
Impact as “the potential impact of the licensing objectives of a significant number of premises 
concentrated in one area”. The number, type and density of licensed premises within an area 
may give rise to increased problems of crime, anti-social behaviour, noise pollution, littering and 
other disturbance to residents. The authority acknowledges that a concentration of licensed 
premises in a particular area can result in an increased number of people walking through 
or congregating in streets during the night, with the potential to increase crime, anti-social 
behaviour, noise pollution, littering and other disturbance to residents. In such cases the amenity 
of local residents can be placed under pressure, but this may not be attributable to any individual 
premises.

Representations may be received from a responsible authority that an area has become 
saturated with premises making it the focal point for large groups of people. This concentration 
of premises may be creating exceptional problems of nuisance and disorder over and above 
the impact from the individual premises. The process is based on evidence and usually from the 
police, who are able to produce data on crime and disorder in the area.

The licensing authority recognises that such a policy cannot be absolute and if adopted would 
still continue to consider each application on its own merits. For licences that were unlikely to 
add significantly to any problems of saturation, the application, may still be approved, despite 
being in a CIP area and a representation from a responsible authority would still be required. If 
not, the application would be determined under delegated powers by officers.

Details of any special policy must be published in the authority’s statement of licensing policy, 
but there are currently no CIP areas in the New Forest District.

The Licensing Authority have the option to issue a CIP following receipt of compelling evidence 
submitted by a Responsible Authority regarding adverse impact upon the licensing objectives.

14.2 Late Night Levy 

Following the introduction of the Police and Social Responsibility Act 2011, the licensing authority 
may introduce a levy across its area for certain venues.  The levy would apply to all licensed 
premises supplying alcohol between midnight and 6:00hrs, except for any category of premises 
exempted by the licensing authority. Any premises not subject to an exemption who supply 
alcohol during the supply period would be required to pay the late-night levy, the level of which 
is based on rateable value.  

Late night levies are the means through which the local council and police force can raise funds 
to help pay for additional enforcement required to deal with increased public nuisance around 
premises. 

In accordance with legislation, although the authority is responsible for the administration of the 
levy, the police receive the majority of monies collected. 

Before a levy can be put in place the licensing authority must consider evidence and consult with 
the police and licence/certificate holders. There is currently no late-night levy in the New Forest 
District.

50



Statement of Licensing Policy • 2022-2026 29

14.3 Early Morning Restriction Orders (EMROs)

Following the introduction of the Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011, a licensing 
authority may make an early morning restriction order (EMRO) if they consider it appropriate for 
the promotion of the licensing objectives.

An EMRO enables licensing authorities to restrict sales of alcohol in the whole or a part of their 
areas for any specified period between 12 midnight and 6 am. EMROs are designed to address 
recurring problems with alcohol-related crime and disorder in specific areas. 

The licensing authority will be able to decide the hours and days on which the EMRO will apply, 
the time period and whether it would apply to a part or the whole of the licensing authority’s 
area. In each case, the decision will be based on what is appropriate for the promotion of the 
licensing objectives.

Alternative measures such as a review or in extreme cases, a closure order, issued by the Police, 
would be considered by the licensing authority before introducing an EMRO. There are no 
EMROs currently designated in the New Forest District.

51



30 Statement of Licensing Policy • 2022-2026

15. Review of policy

The Policy will be kept under review and where any amendments are considered necessary 
these will only be made after consultation has taken place in accordance with Section 5(3) of the 
Act. Proper weight shall be given to the views of all those consulted. Those to be consulted will 
include:

• The Chief Officer of Police for Hampshire

• The Chief Officer of Hampshire Fire and Rescue Service

• The Local Health Board for the district

• The Local Safeguarding Unit (children welfare) for the district

• Bodies representing local holders of premises licences

• Bodies representing local holders of club premises certificates

• Bodies representing local holders of personal licences

• Bodies representing local businesses and residents

• All other bodies the Licensing Authority deems appropriate.

52



Statement of Licensing Policy • 2022-2026 31

16. Exchange of information

The Licensing Authority will act in accordance with the provisions of the Licensing Act 2003 and 
the General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR), in its exchange of information. Where a protocol 
is established to set out the mechanism for exchange of information with other regulatory 
bodies, any such protocol will be made publicly available.

For further information, please refer to the authority’s Privacy Notice at: www.newforest.gov.uk/
article/1716/Licensing-Services-privacy-notice

53



32 Statement of Licensing Policy • 2022-2026

17. Comments on the policy

The licensing authority welcomes all comments and observations on this policy, which should be 
sent to:

The Licensing Service 
New Forest District Council  
Appletree Court 
Beaulieu Road  
Lyndhurst  
Hampshire SO43 7PA

Email: licensing@nfdc.gov.uk

This policy takes effect on 1 January 2022 and will remain in force until 31 December 2026.

54



Statement of Licensing Policy • 2022-2026 33

APPENDIX A

Table of delegations in respect of licensing authority functions

The delegation of decisions and functions will be as follows:

Matter to be dealt with GP&L Committee or Sub Committee Officer delegation
Application for personal licence If police objection is made All other cases
Application for Premises Licence/Club 
Premises Certificate

If a relevant representation is made If no representation 
made

Application for provisional statement If a relevant representation is made If no representation 
made

Application to vary Premises Licence/
Club Premises Certificate

If a relevant representation is made If no representation 
made

Application to vary Designated 
Premises Supervisor

If a police objection is made All other cases

Minor Variation Application All cases
Applications to dis-apply the mandatory 
conditions

If a police representation is made All other cases

Application for transfer of Premises 
Licence

If a police representation is made All other cases

Request to be removed as Designated 
Premises Supervisor

All cases

Applications for Interim authority If a police representation is made All other cases
Application to review Premises Licence/
Club Premises Certificate

All cases

Decision on whether a complaint is 
irrelevant, frivolous, vexatious etc

All cases

Decision to object when local authority 
is a consultee and not the relevant 
authority considering the application

All cases

Determination of an objection to a 
temporary event notice

All cases unless all parties agree to 
conditions

Where all parties agree 
to the imposition of 
conditions

Decision as to whether to withhold 
some or all of an interested party’s 
personal details from the applicant

All cases

Decision to suspend a premises 
licence/club certificate for failure to pay 
the annual fee or late night levy

All cases

55



34 Statement of Licensing Policy • 2022-2026

APPENDIX B  

Glossary of terms

The Act 
Means the Licensing Act 2003.

Licensed premises  
All premises that are licensed under the 2003 Act: Premises licences, club premises certificates 
and vessels all with or without alcohol, including takeaways that serve after 23.00hrs.

Alcohol 
Includes spirits, wine, beer, cider, or any other fermented, distilled, or spirituous liquor of or 
exceeding 0.5% alcoholic strength at the time of sale.

Appeals 
Appeals against decisions of the Licensing Authority are to the magistrates’ court for the area 
in which the premises are situated.  The appeal must be lodged within 21 days.  On appeal a 
magistrates’ court may, dismiss the appeal; substitute its own decision; remit the case to the 
Licensing Authority with directions; and may make an order for costs as it thinks fit.

Authorised persons, Other persons and Responsible authorities 
The Act creates three categories of people/agencies that can make representations to a 
Licensing Authority about a licence application.  “Authorised persons” are specified people who 
have statutory duties in relation to the inspection of premises, e.g. fire, health and safety.  “Other 
Persons” covers any individual, body or business entitled to make a relevant representation.  
“Responsible Authorities” include the police, fire, enforcing authority for health and safety, 
planning authority, environmental health, bodies responsible for child protection, the health 
authority and the licensing authority. All responsible Authorities must be consulted with during 
the 28 day representation  period and Other persons are informed through a Public notice in 
the newspaper and a notice that must be displayed on the premises where it can be seen by the 
public. 

Closure powers 
Powers for the police and courts to close premises.  The 2014 Act significantly extends the 
existing powers of the police to seek court orders in a geographical area that is experiencing 
or likely to experience disorder or to close down instantly individual licensed premises that are 
disorderly, likely to become disorderly or are causing noise nuisance. 

Club Premises Certificate (CPC) 
A certificate which licences a qualifying club for the sale/supply of alcohol.  It can be granted 
to members’ clubs which comply with specific conditions e.g. membership rules, run by club 
committees, profits go to members not an owner etc.  There is no time limit on the duration of the 
certificate but it may be withdrawn, surrendered or suspended.

Designated Premises Supervisor (DPS) 
The person designated in the premises licence as the person who is responsible for supervision 
of the premises e.g. the day-to-day manager.  Any premises where alcohol is supplied as a 
licensable activity must have a designated premises supervisor.

The guidance 
The Statutory Guidance issued by the Secretary of State under Section 182 of the Licensing Act 
2003. This is updated at regular intervals to reflect changes in legislation.

Interim authority notices 
Where a premises licence lapses due to death, incapacity or insolvency etc of the holder, 
specified persons can, within 28 days serve an interim authority notice on the Licensing 
Authority.  This revives the licence, subject to police objection, for a period of up to three months 
to allow the premises to continue to trade.

56



Statement of Licensing Policy • 2022-2026 35

Late night refreshment 
Supply of hot food or hot drink between 11pm and 5am whether for consumption on or off the 
premises e.g. will cover late night takeaways and fast food outlets but also restaurants open after 
11pm.

Licensable activities 
Activities that must be licensed under the Act:  The sale by retail of alcohol; supply of alcohol by 
a club; provision of regulated entertainment; provision of late night refreshment

Licensing authority 
Local authorities (district or county councils). In the context of this document- New Forest District 
Council

Licensing committee 
A committee of at least 10 but not more than 15 members of the local authority.  May have one or 
more sub-committees consisting of at least three members.

Licensing objectives 
The objectives of licensing set out in the Act:  The prevention of crime and disorder; public 
safety; the prevention of public nuisance; and the protection of children from harm.  The 
Licensing Authority must carry out its functions under the Act with a view to promoting the 
licensing objectives. 

Licensing panel 
A committee of three New Forest District Councillors appointed from the General Purposes and 
Licensing Committee (GP&L) to whom the functions of the licensing committee can be delegated 
under the Act.

Mandatory conditions 
Conditions imposed on all premises licences and club premises certificates. The Secretary 
of State may add to these at any time and they are written in to each licence/certificate 
appropriately. See Appendix C.

Objection notice 
A procedure whereby the police can object to the grant of a personal licence on the grounds 
that where having regard to convictions of the applicant for relevant offences, the grant would 
undermine the crime prevention objective

Off-sales 
Retail sale of alcohol for consumption off the premises (off-licences, supermarkets), however 
some premises may have on and off-sales, to allow for bottles of wine etc to be taken away from 
the premises.

On sales 
Retail sale of alcohol for consumption actually on the premises that is the area defined on the 
Annex 4 plan.

Operator 
Includes all premises licence holders, club premises certificate holders and designated premises 
supervisors.

Operating schedule 
A document in a prescribed form that sets out information about how the applicant for a 
premises licence intends to operate their business. It sets out information such as the relevant 
licensable activities, the proposed licensed hours, any other opening hours, the name of the 
proposed premises supervisor and steps which it is proposed to take to promote the licensing 
objectives. Where an applicant for a premises licence submits an operating schedule, and there 
are no relevant representations (objections), the local authority must grant the application and 
can impose only those conditions on the licence that are consistent with the operating schedule.

57



36 Statement of Licensing Policy • 2022-2026

Personal licence 
A licence granted to an individual which authorises that person to supply alcohol or authorise the 
supply of alcohol in accordance with a premises licence. It ceases to have effect when revoked, 
forfeited, surrendered or suspended. A personal licence holder is also not required for the 
supply of alcohol in a club which holds a club premises certificate. Only the police can object to 
the grant of a personal licence.

Premises licence 
A licence granted in respect of any premises, which authorises the premises to be used for one 
or more licensable activities. Has effect until revoked, surrendered or death, insolvency etc of 
the holder. Applications are dealt with by the local authority licensing committee in the area 
where the premises are situated.

Provisional statement 
A procedure by which the Licensing Authority can give a statement approving, for licensing 
purposes, proposals for a premises being built or in the course of being constructed. Where a 
provisional statement is made, subject to limited exceptions, the full licence must normally be 
granted once the premises are completed.

Responsible authorities 
Hampshire Constabulary 
Hampshire Fire and Rescue 
Environmental Health Department-New Forest District Council 
Licensing Authority- New Forest District Council 
Planning Department- New Forest District Council 
Trading standards- Hampshire County Council 
Child Protection unit- Hampshire County Council 
Public Health Department- Hampshire County Council 
For current details please contact the licensing department

Regulated entertainment 
Specified entertainment that takes place in the presence of an audience for their entertainment; 
performance of a play, exhibition of a film, indoor sporting event, performance of live music, 
playing of recorded music, performance of dance, other entertainment similar to music and 
dancing

Relevant offences 
Offences relevant to the consideration of an application for the grant of a personal licence and 
about which the police may serve an “objection notice”.  The offences are listed in schedule 4 of 
the 2003 Act and generally relate to drink, dishonesty, drugs, duty, copyright, food safety, sexual 
offences & violence.

Statement of Licensing Policy 
Each Licensing Authority must every five years determine and publish a statement of licensing 
policy. There is a requirement to consult on the policy and keep it under review.

Transfer 
A procedure where an application can be made to transfer the premises licence into a new name 
e.g. if a premises licence holder sells his premises an application may be made to transfer the 
premises licence to the new owner

Variation 
Changes in the operation of a premises, club or event, including variation of operating hours and 
modification of the premises or the specification of another person as the Designated Premises 
Supervisor.

58



Statement of Licensing Policy • 2022-2026 37

APPENDIX C 

Mandatory conditions applied to Premises Licences and Club Premises Certificates (correct at 
time of print)

Where a Premises Licence authorises the sale or supply of alcohol

1. No supply of alcohol may be made under the premises licence – 
(a) at a time when there is no designated premises supervisor in respect of the premises 
licence, or 
(b) at a time when the designated premises supervisor does not hold a personal licence or 
his personal licence is suspended.

2. Every supply of alcohol under the premises licence must be made or authorised by a person 
who holds a personal licence.

Mandatory Condition where the Premises Licence or Club Premises Certificate permits the 
performance of Films

1. 1Where the film classification body is specified in the licence, unless subsection (2)(b) 
applies, admission of children must be restricted in accordance with any recommendation 
made by that body. 

2. Where – 
(a) the film classification body is not specified in the licence, or 
(b) the relevant licensing authority has notified the holder of the licence that this subsection 
applies to the film in question, admission of children must be restricted in accordance with 
any recommendation made by that licensing authority.

3. In this section – “children” means persons aged under 18; and “film classification 
body” means the person or persons designated as the authority under section 4 of the 
Video Recordings Act 1984 (c.39) (authority to determine suitability of video works for 
classification). 

Where the Premises Licence requires Door Supervision

All individuals who carry out security activities must be licensed by the Security Industry 
Authority (SIA)

Mandatory Conditions where the Club Premises Certificate authorises the supply of 
alcohol for consumption off the premises

1. A club premises certificate may not authorise the supply of alcohol for consumption off 
the premises unless it also authorises the supply of alcohol to a member of the club for 
consumption on those premises

2. The supply of alcohol for consumption off the premises must be made at a time when 
the premises are open for the purposes of supplying alcohol to members of the club for 
consumption on the premises.

3. Any alcohol supplied for consumption off the premises must be in a sealed container.

4. Any supply of alcohol for consumption off the premises must be made to a member of the 
club in person.

59



38 Statement of Licensing Policy • 2022-2026

Mandatory conditions effective where the licence or club premises certificate permits the 
sale or supply of alcohol for consumption on and off the premises

The Licensing Act 2003 (Mandatory Licensing Conditions) (Amendment) Order 2014 – 
effective from 1 October 2014

1. (1) The responsible person must ensure that staff on relevant premises do not carry out, 
arrange or participate in any irresponsible promotions in relation to the premises. 
(2) In this paragraph, an irresponsible promotion means any one or more of the following 
activities, or substantially similar activities, carried on for the purpose of encouraging the 
sale or supply of alcohol for consumption on the premises-  
(a) games or other activities which require or encourage, or are designed to require   or 
encourage, individuals to– 
(i) drink a quantity of alcohol within a time limit (other than to drink alcohol sold or supplied 
on the premises before the cessation of the period in which the responsible person is 
authorised to sell or supply alcohol), or 
(ii) drink as much alcohol as possible (whether within a time limit or otherwise); 
(b) provision of unlimited or unspecified quantities of alcohol free or for a fixed or discounted 
fee to the public or to a group defined by a particular characteristic in a manner which carries 
a significant risk of undermining a licensing objective; 
(c) provision of free or discounted alcohol or any other thing as a prize to encourage or 
reward the purchase and consumption of alcohol over a period of 24 hours or less in a 
manner which carries a significant risk of undermining a licensing objective; 
(d) ) selling or supplying alcohol in association with promotional posters or flyers on, or in 
the vicinity of, the premises which can reasonably be considered to condone, encourage or 
glamorise anti-social behaviour or to refer to the effects of drunkenness in any favourable 
manner; 
(e) dispensing alcohol directly by one person into the mouth of another (other than where 
that other person is unable to drink without assistance by reason of disability).

2. The responsible person shall ensure that free potable water is provided on request to 
customers where it is reasonably available.

3. (1) The premises licence holder or club premises certificate holder must ensure that an age 
verification policy is adopted in respect of the premises in relation to the sale or supply of 
alcohol. 
(2) The designated premises supervisor in relation to the premises licence must ensure that 
the supply of alcohol at the premises is carried on in accordance with the age verification 
policy. 
(3) The policy must require individuals who appear to the responsible person to be under 
18 years of age (or such older age as may be specified in the policy) to produce on request, 
before being served alcohol, identification bearing their photograph, date of birth and either-
(a) a holographic mark, or 
(b) an ultraviolet feature.

4. The responsible person must ensure that– 
(a) where any of the following alcoholic drinks is sold or supplied for consumption on the 
premises (other than alcoholic drinks sold or supplied having been made up in advance 
ready for sale or supply in a securely closed container) it is available to customers in the 
following measures– 
(i) beer or cider: ½ pint; 
(ii) gin, rum, vodka or whisky: 25 ml or 35 ml; and 
(iii) still wine in a glass: 125 ml; and 
(b) these measures are displayed in a menu, price list or other printed material which is 
available to customers on the premises; and 
(c) where a customer does not in relation to a sale of alcohol specify the quantity of alcohol 
to be sold, the customer is made aware that these measures are available.

60



Statement of Licensing Policy • 2022-2026 39

The Licensing Act 2003 (Mandatory Licensing Conditions) (Amendment) Order 2014 – 
effective from 28 May 2014

1. A relevant person shall ensure that no alcohol is sold or supplied for consumption on or off 
the premises for a price which is less than the permitted price.

2. For the purposes of the condition set out in paragraph 1— 
(a) “duty” is to be construed in accordance with the Alcoholic Liquor Duties Act 1979; 
(b) “permitted price” is the price found by applying the formula— 
P = D + (D×V) 
where— 
(i) P is the permitted price, 
(ii) D is the amount of duty chargeable in relation to the alcohol as if the duty were charged 
on the date of the sale or supply of the alcohol, and 
(iii) V is the rate of value added tax chargeable in relation to the alcohol as if the value 
added tax were charged on the date of the sale or supply of the alcohol; 
(c) “relevant person” means, in relation to premises in respect of which there is in force a 
premises licence— 
(i) the holder of the premises licence, 
(ii) the designated premises supervisor (if any) in respect of such a licence, or 
(iii) the personal licence holder who makes or authorises a supply of alcohol under such a 
licence; 
(d) “relevant person” means, in relation to premises in respect of which there is in force a 
club premises certificate, any member or officer of the club present on the premises in a 
capacity which enables the member or officer to prevent the supply in question; and 
(e) “value added tax” means value added tax charged in accordance with the Value Added 
Tax Act 1994.

3. Where the permitted price given by Paragraph (b) of paragraph 2 would (apart from this 
paragraph) not be a whole number of pennies, the price given by that sub-paragraph shall be 
taken to be the  price actually given by that sub-paragraph rounded up to the nearest penny.

4. (1) Sub-paragraph (2) applies where the permitted price given by Paragraph (b) of paragraph 
2 on a day (“the first day”) would be different from the permitted price on the next day (“the 
second day”) as a result of a change to the rate of duty or value added tax. 
(2) The permitted price which would apply on the first day applies to sales or supplies of 
alcohol which take place before the expiry of the period of 14 days beginning on the second 
day.

61



40 Statement of Licensing Policy • 2022-2026

Mandatory conditions effective where the licence permits the consumption of alcohol off 
the premises only

The Licensing Act 2003 (Mandatory Licensing Conditions) (Amendment) Order 2014 – 
effective from 28 May 2014

1. A relevant person shall ensure that no alcohol is sold or supplied for consumption on or off 
the premises for a price which is less than the permitted price.

2. For the purposes of the condition set out in paragraph 1— 
(a) “duty” is to be construed in accordance with the Alcoholic Liquor Duties Act 1979; 
(b) “permitted price” is the price found by applying the formula— 
P = D + (D×V) 
where— 
(iv) P is the permitted price, 
(v) D is the amount of duty chargeable in relation to the alcohol as if the duty were charged 
on the date of the sale or supply of the alcohol, and 
(vi) V is the rate of value added tax chargeable in relation to the alcohol as if the value 
added tax were charged on the date of the sale or supply of the alcohol; 
(c) “relevant person” means, in relation to premises in respect of which there is in force a 
premises licence— 
(i) the holder of the premises licence, 
(ii) the designated premises supervisor (if any) in respect of such a licence, or 
(iii) the personal licence holder who makes or authorises a supply of alcohol under such a 
licence; 
(d) “relevant person” means, in relation to premises in respect of which there is in force a 
club premises certificate, any member or officer of the club present on the premises in a 
capacity which enables the member or officer to prevent the supply in question; and 
(e) “value added tax” means value added tax charged in accordance with the Value Added 
Tax Act 1994.

3. Where the permitted price given by Paragraph (b) of paragraph 2 would (apart from this 
paragraph) not be a whole number of pennies, the price given by that sub-paragraph shall be 
taken to be the  price actually given by that sub-paragraph rounded up to the nearest penny. 
(1) Sub-paragraph (2) applies where the permitted price given by Paragraph (b) of paragraph 
2 on a day (“the first day”) would be different from the permitted price on the next day (“the 
second day”) as a result of a change to the rate of duty or value added tax. 
The permitted price which would apply on the first day applies to sales or supplies of alcohol 
which take place before the expiry of the period of 14 days beginning on the second day.

62



Statement of Licensing Policy • 2022-2026 41

APPENDIX D

The Licensing Act 2003 may be amended periodically by legislation, however there are a 
number of Acts and statutory regimes that also impact on licensed premises, as below.

Other relevant legislation (correct at time of print)

1. Planning Legislation and Building Regulations

The planning, building control and licensing regimes will be properly separated to avoid 
duplication and inefficiency. Applications for premises licences for permanent commercial 
premises should normally be from businesses with planning consent for the property concerned. 
Licensing applications will not be a re-run of the planning application. The granting by the 
Licensing Committee of any variation of a licence which involves a material alteration to a 
building would not relieve the applicant of the need to apply for planning permission or building 
regulation control where appropriate.

2. Health and Safety at Work etc. Act 1974 and associated legislation

New Forest District Council is the authority for this legislation for most licensed premises in the 
area.

3. Human Rights Act 1998

New Forest District Council has a duty under the European Convention on Human Rights to 
protect both the rights of a resident to privacy and family life (Article 8) and the rights of a 
licensee to operate their business without undue interference (Article 1 of the First Protocol). 
These policies are intended to reflect the balance to be struck between these interests where 
they conflict.

4. Equalities Act 2010

The Equality Act 2010 legally protects people from discrimination in the workplace and in wider 
society.

5 Crime and Disorder Act 1998 Section 17

This Act requires local authorities and others to consider crime and disorder reduction while 
exercising all of their duties. It states, “Without prejudice to any other obligation imposed upon 
it, it shall be the duty of each authority to exercise its various functions with due regard to the 
likely effect of the exercise of those functions on, and the need to do all that it reasonably can to 
prevent, crime and disorder in its area”.

This reflects the reality that there are crime and/or disorder implications in decisions made 
across the full range of local authority services. The consideration of the specific licensing 
objective of the prevention of crime and disorder fulfils the requirement under this Act.

6. Criminal Justice and Police Act 2001

This Act introduces provisions for combating alcohol related disorder giving the local authority 
and/or the police the powers to prohibit alcohol consumption in designated public places, to 
close certain licensed premises due to disorder or disturbance and to close unlicensed premises.

7. Policing and Crime Act 2009

This Act introduces measures to tackle alcohol misuse.

8. Environmental Protection Act 1990

This covers a wide range of types of pollution including noise pollution.

63



42 Statement of Licensing Policy • 2022-2026

9. The Clean Neighbourhoods and Environment Act 2005

This provides local authorities with an additional power to issue a fixed penalty notice to any 
licensed premises emitting noise that exceeds the permitted level between the hours of 11.00pm 
and 7.00am.

10. Anti-Social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014

Chapter 1, Section 43 – Community Protection Notice

The community protection notice (CPN) is intended to deal with particular, ongoing problems or 
nuisances which negatively affect the community’s quality of life by targeting those responsible. 
A CPN can be issued by an authorised Council officer if they are satisfied on reasonable grounds 
that the conduct of the individual, business or organisation:

• Is having a detrimental effect on the quality of life of those in the locality,

• Is persistent or continuing in nature and

• Is unreasonable.

Chapter 2 Section 59 – Public Space Protection Orders

Public spaces protection orders (PSPOs) are intended to deal with a particular nuisance or 
problem in a particular area that is detrimental to the local community’s qualify of life, by 
imposing conditions on the use of that area which apply to everyone. They are designed to 
ensure the law-abiding majority can use and enjoy public spaces, safe from anti-social behaviour. 
A PSPO can be made by the Council if they are satisfied on reasonable grounds that the 
activities carried out, or likely to be carried out, in a public space:

• Have had, or are likely to have, a detrimental effect on the quality of life of those in the 
locality

• Is, or is likely to be, persistent or continuing in nature

• Is, or is likely to be, unreasonable and

• Justifies the restrictions imposed.

Chapter 3 Section 76 – Closure Powers 

The closure power is a fast, flexible power that can be used to protect victims and communities 
by quickly closing premises that are causing nuisance or disorder. A closure notice can be 
issued for 24 hours if the Council or police officer (of at least the rank of inspector) is satisfied on 
reasonable grounds:

• That the use of particular premises has resulted, or (if the notice is not issued) is likely soon 
to result, in nuisance to members of the public or

• That there has been, or (if the notice is not issued) is likely soon to be, disorder near those 
premises associated with the use of those premises, and that the notice is necessary to 
prevent the nuisance or disorder from continuing, recurring or occurring. 

The closure notice can be issued in the first instance for 48 hours or extended from 24 hours up 
to a maximum of 48 hours by the Council’s Chief Executive Officer or designate thereof, or by a 
police superintendent.

64



Statement of Licensing Policy • 2022-2026 43

11. Health Act 2006 (Workplace Smoking Ban)

The ban on smoking in all enclosed work places and public places came into force on the 1 July 
2007. The ban includes smoking in pubs, restaurants and members clubs where bar or other 
staff are employed.

12. The Regulatory Reform (Fire Safety) Order 2005

Hampshire Fire and Rescue Service enforce fire safety legislation. The Regulatory

Reform (Fire Safety) Order 2005 (‘the Fire Safety Order’) replaces previous fire safety legislation.

13. General Data Protection Regulation/ Data Protection Act 2018

Applicants should have regard to the provisions of the Data Protection Act 1998 in relation to 
their premises and in particular to the Information

65



44 Statement of Licensing Policy • 2022-2026

APPENDIX E

© Crown copyright and database rights 2019 Ordnance Survey 100026220

66



Statement of Licensing Policy • 2022-2026 45

APPENDIX F

The responsible authorities 

New Forest District Council (NFDC) Licensing Service 
Appletree Court, Beaulieu Road, Lyndhurst, Hampshire SO43 7PA 
Tel: 023 8028 5505  
Email: licensing@nfdc.gov.uk  
Website: newforest.gov.uk 

New Forest District Council (NFDC) Environmental Health (Environmental Protection) 
Appletree Court, Beaulieu Road, Lyndhurst, Hampshire SO43 7PA 
Tel: 023 8028 5411 
Email: env.prot@nfdc.gov.uk  
Website: newforest.gov.uk 

New Forest District Council (NFDC) Environmental Health (Food and Safety) 
Appletree Court, Beaulieu Road, Lyndhurst, Hampshire SO43 7PA 
Tel: 023 8028 5411 
Email: Envhealth.commadmin@nfdc.gov.uk 
Website: newforest.gov.uk 

PLEASE ENSURE THAT YOU COPY YOUR APPLICATION TO THE CORRECT PLANNING 
AUTHORITY

New Forest District Council (NFDC) Planning Control 
Appletree Court, Beaulieu Road, Lyndhurst, Hampshire SO43 7PA 
Tel: 023 8028 5345 
Email: dev.control@nfdc.gov.uk  
Website: newforest.gov.uk

OR

New Forest National Park Planning Authority  
Town Hall, Avenue Road, Lymington, Hampshire SO41 9ZG  
Tel: 01590 646615  
Email: dev.control@newforestnpa.gov.uk 
Website: newforestnpa.gov.uk 

Police Licensing Team (Western Area)  
Police Licensing Team-Western area 
Southampton Central Police Station, Southern Road, Southampton SO15 1AN 
Email: force.licensing@hampshire.pnn.police.uk 
Website: hampshire.police.uk 

Hampshire Fire and Rescue Service HQ 
Business Fire Safety, Leigh Road, Eastleigh, Hampshire SO50 9SJ 
Tel: 02392 664656 
Email: csprotection.admin@hantsfire.gov.uk  
Website: hantsfire.gov.uk 

Hampshire County Council Children’s Services Department Safeguarding Unit  
Falcon House, Monarch Way, Winchester SO22 5PL 
Tel: 01962 876222 
Email: child.protection@hants.gov.uk

67



46 Statement of Licensing Policy • 2022-2026

Trading Standards Service 
Montgomery House, Monarch Way, Winchester SO22 5PW  
Tel: 01962 833620  
Email: liquor.licensing@hants.gov.uk  
Website: www.hants.gov.uk/regulatory/tradesta/index.html  

Licensing Public Health Manager 
Public Health Department, 1st Floor, Room 153 Elizabeth II Court, 
South Hampshire County Council, Winchester SO23 8TG  
Fax: 01962 847644  
Email: publichealth.licensing@hants.gov.uk

Home Office 
Alcohol Licensing Team, Lunar House, 40 Wellesley Road, Croydon CR9 2BY 
Email: Alcohol@homeoffice.gsi.gov.uk

Maritime and Coastguard Agency 
Southampton Marine Office, Spring Place, 105 Commercial Road Southampton SO15 1EG  
Tel: 0203 817 2000 
Email: infoline@mcga.gov.uk 
Please note that the MCA will only be involved when the application is in respect of a vessel

Health & Safety Executive (HSE) 
Priestley House, Priestley Road, Basingstoke, Hampshire RG24 9NW  
Tel: 01256 404000 
Please note that the HSE will only become involved where New Forest District Council is NOT 
the enforcing authority under the Health and Safety Act, e.g., premises of a crown body, a local 
authority, the Police, a hospital, a school or university

68



Statement of Licensing Policy • 2022-2026 47

New Forest District Council 
Appletree Court, Beaulieu Road, Lyndhurst. Hampshire. SO43 7PA

newforest.gov.uk

 newforestdc    newforestgov    newforestcouncil

69



This page is intentionally left blank



2022-2024

GAMBLING ACT 2005

Version 02

Statement 
of gambling 
principles

    
    APPENDIX 2

71



72



Statement of Gambling Principles • 2022-2024 3

p4 1. Executive Summary

p5 2. New Forest District

p6 3. Background

 3.1 Statement of Licensing Principles 
3.2 The Licensing framework 
3.3 Licensing objectives 
3.4 Licensing Authority functions 
3.5 Delegated Powers 
3.6 Representations 
3.7 Responsible Authorities 
3.8 Interested Parties 
3.9 Admissible and relevant 
3.10 Frivolous or vexatious or likely to have 
 no influence on a decision 
3.11 Exchange of Information

p12 4. Promoting the Licensing objectives

 (i) Preventing gambling from being a source 
 of crime or disorder, being associated 
 with crime or disorder or being used to 
 support crime 
(ii) Ensuring that Gambling is conducted in a 
 fair and open Way 
(iii) Protecting children and other 
 vulnerable persons

p14 5. Premises Licences

 5.1 General principles 
5.2 Definition of premises 
5.3 Premises ready for gambling 
5.4 Location of premises 
5.5 Local risk assessments 
5.6 Local Area Profiles 
5.7 Conditions 
5.8 Types of Premises 
5.9 Travelling Fairs

p26 6. Permits, notices and lotteries

 6.1 Unlicensed Family Entertainment 
 Centres - gaming machines 
6.2 Alcohol licensed premises - 
 gaming machine permits 
6.3 Prize gaming permits 
6.4 Club gaming and club machine permits 
6.5 Temporary Use Notices 
6.6 Occasional Use Notices 
6.7 Small Society Lotteries

p33 7. Compliance and Enforcement

 7.1 Inspection 
7.2 Powers of Entry 
7.3 Complaints 
7.4 Enforcement 
7.5 Reviews 
7.6 Rights of Appeal and Judicial review

p38 8. Policy review

p39 Appendix A - Map of the District

p40 Appendix B - Responsible authorities 
contact details

p41 Appendix C - Table of delegations of 
licensing functions 
under the gambling act 2005

Contents

73



4 Statement of Gambling Principles • 2022-2024

1. Executive summary

The Gambling Act 2005 (‘the Act’) received Royal Assent in 2005 and came fully 
into effect in 2007.

Under Section 349 of the Act, every three years, New Forest District Council (‘the 
Licensing Authority’) is required to prepare a statement of principles that they propose 
to apply in exercising their functions under the Act. This Statement of Gambling 
Principles (‘the Policy’) is prepared in accordance with this requirement.  This Policy 
will replace all previous versions of the statement of principles. 

The consultation process is laid out clearly in the Act, the Gambling Act 2005 
(Authority Policy Statement) (England and Wales) Regulations 2006 and the Guidance 
to Licensing Authorities (‘the Guidance’) issued by the Gambling Commission 
(gamblingcommission.gov.uk)

Any decision taken by the Licensing Authority in regard to determination of licences, 
permits and registrations should aim to permit the use of premises for gambling in so 
far as it is reasonably consistent with the licensing objectives.

The principles to be applied specifically to the determination of premises licence 
applications include the definition of premises, location, duplication of other regulatory 
regimes, conditions, door supervision, layout of premises and supervision of gaming 
facilities. The Policy specifically mentions adult gaming centres, family entertainment 
centres, casinos, bingo premises, betting premises, tracks and travelling fairs.

The Licensing Authority is able to issue permits for prize gaming and unlicensed family 
entertainment centres. The Licensing Authority is able to specify the information 
it requires as part of the application process which will aid determination and this 
information is described in the policy.

Club gaming and club machine permits are also issued by the Licensing Authority.  
The process for this is described along with other processes specified in the Act, for 
example, temporary use notices, occasional use notices and small society lotteries.

Enforcement of the provisions of the Act is undertaken by the Licensing Authority 
in conjunction with the Gambling Commission. The Policy describes the Licensing 
Authority’s enforcement principles and the principles underpinning the right of review.

74



Statement of Gambling Principles • 2022-2024 5

2. New Forest District

The New Forest District area is in the south west of Hampshire and is bounded 
by the Solent water. It is situated between Southampton to the east and 
Christchurch and Bournemouth to the west. One of the most striking features 
of the Forest is the open expanse of semi-natural vegetation at its heart which 
has National Park status. Much of the open forest is owned and cared for by 
the Forestry Commission working, in conjunction with a wide range of other 
statutory bodies and interest groups.

Tourism is a major part of the local economy and every year approximately 13.5 million 
visitors come to the area. Many people visit on a regular basis to enjoy the forest area. 

There are currently 14 Licensed Gambling Premises in the New Forest comprising 12 
betting shops and 2 adult gaming centres. There are currently no bingo halls, tracks or 
casinos within the New Forest area.

The Licensing Authority has also granted over one hundred small society lottery 
permits to charitable organisations that organise fundraising raffles and events for the 
benefit of the community of the New Forest.

The Licensing Authority recognises that legal gambling in a fair and open way, with 
suitable protection for vulnerable persons, is an important part of the area and 
contributes to the local economy. 

Appendix A (on page 39) provides a map of the area.

75



6 Statement of Gambling Principles • 2022-2024

3. Background

The Act provides the regime for the licensing and regulation of commercial 
gambling in the UK. It is intended to regulate the provisions for gambling and the 
use of premises for gambling.

The Act defines three types of gambling;

• Gaming

• Betting, and

• Participating in a lottery.

A variety of licences and permits allow for these gambling activities to take place.

The task of granting the licences and permits is shared between the Gambling 
Commission and Licensing Authorities. The Gambling Commission approves operating 
and personal licences and Licensing Authorities issue premises licences and other 
permissions.

3.1 - Statement of licensing principles

The Act requires the Licensing Authority to publish and consult on its statement of 
licensing principles and revisions to it. 

In reviewing the statement of principles, all necessary bodies and stakeholders were 
consulted including; 

• The Chief Officer of Police for Hampshire;

• The Fire Authority;

• Representatives of businesses and residents in the district;

• Representatives of persons representing the interests of persons carrying on 
gambling businesses in the district;

• Community Safety Partnership;

• Representatives of child welfare groups;

• Town and Parish Councils;

• Gambling industry organisations and associations;

• Gambler support organisations; and

• Faith groups.

In determining the weight to give to particular representations on the statement, the 
factors taken into account included:

• The expertise and interest of the person making the representation;

• The relevance of factors to the licensing objectives;

• Their motivation and number of similar view and

• How the representations relate to matters for the Licensing Authority to include in 
the statement.

76



Statement of Gambling Principles • 2022-2024 7

The statement of principles does not override the right of the appropriate persons to 
make an application, make representations about an application or apply for a review 
of a licence, in accordance with the statutory requirements of the Act.

The contents of this document are provided as information on the policy and principles 
of New Forest District Council in carrying out its functions in relation to the regulation 
of gambling. The document is not a full and authoritative statement of the law or 
statutory guidance and does not constitute professional or legal advice. 

3.2 - The licensing framework

The Act brought about changes to the way that gambling is administered in the UK. 
The Gambling Commission is the national gambling regulator and has a lead role in 
working with central government and local authorities to regulate activity.

The Gambling Commission issues operator and personal licences. Any operator 
wishing to provide gambling at a certain premises must have applied for the requisite 
personal licence and operator licence before they can approach the Licensing 
Authority for a premises licence. In this way the Gambling Commission is able to 
screen applicants and organisations to ensure they have the correct credentials to 
operate gambling premises.

The Licensing Authority’s role is to ensure premises are suitable for providing gambling 
in line with the three licensing objectives and codes of practice issued by the Gambling 
Commission. The Licensing Authority also issues various permits and notices to 
regulate smaller scale and/or ad hoc gambling in various locations such as pubs, clubs 
and hotels.

The Licensing Authority does not licence large society lotteries or remote gambling 
through websites. These areas fall to the Gambling Commission. The national lottery 
is not licensed under the Act but is regulated by the Gambling Commission under the 
National Lottery Act 1993.

3.3 - Licensing objectives

In exercising functions under the Act, the Licensing Authority will have regard to the 
licensing objectives set out in section 1 of the Act. 

The licensing objectives are :

I. Preventing gambling from being a source of crime or disorder, being associated 
with crime or disorder or being used to support crime,

II. Ensuring that gambling is conducted in a fair and open way, and 

III. Protecting children and other vulnerable persons from being harmed or exploited 
by gambling.

There is an expectation that gambling operators work together with the Licensing 
Authority to ensure compliance with the licensing objectives.

77



8 Statement of Gambling Principles • 2022-2024

The Licensing Authority is aware that in making decisions in accordance with the Act it 
should aim to permit the use of premises for gambling in so far as it is :

• In accordance with any relevant code of practice issued by the Gambling 
Commission;

• In accordance with any relevant guidance issued by the Gambling Commission;

• Reasonably consistent with the licensing objectives; and

• In accordance with this Policy.

3.4 - Licensing Authority functions

The functions under the Act will be carried out by the General Purposes and Licensing 
Committee, and officers acting under the delegated authority of New Forest District 
Council.

Licensing Authorities are responsible for :

• The licensing of premises where gambling activities take place by issuing 
premises licences,

• Issuing of Provisional Statements in relation to future premises,

• Issuing Club Gaming Permits and/or Club Machine Permits to members clubs 
and miners welfare institutions who may wish to undertake certain gaming 
activities Issuing Club Machine Permits to Commercial Clubs,

• Granting Permits for the use of certain lower stake gaming machines at 
unlicensed Family Entertainment Centres,

• Receiving notifications from alcohol licensed premises (under the Licensing Act 
2003) for the use of not more than two gaming machines,

• Granting Licensed Premises Gaming Machine Permits for premises licensed 
to sell/supply alcohol for consumption on the premises where two or more 
machines are required,

• Registering small society lotteries, 

• Issuing Prize Gaming Permits,

• Receiving and endorsing Temporary Use Notices,

• Receiving Occasional Use Notices,

• Providing information to the Gambling Commission regarding details of licences 
issued,

• Maintaining registers of the permits and licences that are issued under these 
functions.

78



Statement of Gambling Principles • 2022-2024 9

3.5 - Delegated powers

The General Purposes and Licensing (GP&L) Committee is responsible for discharging 
the majority of the powers of the Licensing Authority.

Through the Licensing Authority’s scheme of delegation of powers, officers  will also 
be responsible for making certain decisions in accordance with the Act. For the full 
table of delegated powers see Appendix C.

3.6 - Representations 

Only Responsible Authorities and Interested Parties can make representations about 
licence applications, or apply for a review of an existing licence.

3.7 - Responsible Authorities

The Act empowers certain agencies to act as responsible authorities so that they 
can employ their particular area of expertise to help promote the licensing objectives. 
Responsible authorities are able to make representations about licence applications, or 
apply for a review of an existing licence. Responsible authorities will also offer advice 
and guidance to applicants.

A Responsible Authority is defined in the Act as:

• A Licensing Authority in England and Wales in whose area the premises are 
wholly or partly situated;

• The Gambling Commission;

• The Chief Officer of Police for the police area in which the premises are wholly or 
partly situated;

• The Fire and Rescue Authority for an area in which the premises are wholly or 
partly situated;

• The local planning authority; 

• An Authority which has functions by virtue of an enactment in respect of  
minimising or preventing the risk of pollution of the environment or of harm to 
human health in an area where the premises is wholly or partly situated;

• A body which is designated in writing for by the Licensing Authority for an area 
in which the premises are wholly or partly situated, as competent to advise the 
authority about the protection of children from harm;

• HM Revenue and Customs (HMRC) 

Responsible Authorities will be notified of all premises licence applications by the 
applicant, unless the application is received electronically by the Licensing Authority. 
Electronic applications will be forwarded to the Responsible Authorities by the 
Licensing Authority.

The contact details of all the Responsible Authorities for this Licensing Authority can 
be found at Appendix B of this Policy. 

79



10 Statement of Gambling Principles • 2022-2024

3.8 - Interested Parties

Interested parties can make representations about licence applications, or apply for a 
review of an existing licence. 

A person is an interested party in relation to an application for or in respect of a 
premises licence if, in the opinion of the Licensing Authority, the person- 

a) lives sufficiently close to the premises to be likely to be affected by the authorised 
activities, 

b) has business interests that might be affected by the authorised activities, or 

c) represents persons who satisfy either of the above.

The Licensing Authority is required to state the principles it will apply in exercising 
its powers under the Act to determine whether a person is an interested party. The 
principles are:

• Each case will be determined upon its individual merits. This Licensing Authority 
will not apply a rigid rule to its decision making. It will consider the examples 
of considerations provided in the guidance. It will also take into account the 
Guidance requirement that “has business interests” should be given the widest 
possible interpretation and include partnerships, charities, faith groups and 
medical practices. 

• Interested parties can be persons who are democratically elected such as 
councillors and Members of Parliament (‘MP’). No specific evidence of being 
asked to represent an interested person will be required as long as the councillor 
or MP represents the ward likely to be affected. Likewise, parish councils likely 
to be affected will be considered to be interested parties. Other than these, 
however, this Licensing Authority will generally require written evidence that 
a person/body represents someone who either lives sufficiently close to the 
premises to be or has a business interest likely affected by the authorised 
activities. A letter from one of these parties requesting the representation is 
sufficient. 

• If individuals wish to approach councillors to ask them to represent their 
views then care should be taken to ensure that the councillor is not part of the 
Licensing Committee dealing with the licence application. If there are any doubts 
please contact the licensing department; licensing@nfdc.gov.uk

3.9 - Admissible and relevant 

Representations will only be considered relevant if they relate to the licensing 
objectives, they raise issues under this Policy, or the Guidance or codes of practice. 
For example, a representation concerning public nuisance or public safety at the 
premises would not be considered to be relevant based on the licensing objectives but 
concerns over crime and disorder or the protection of children would. 

80



Statement of Gambling Principles • 2022-2024 11

3.10 - Frivolous or vexatious or likely to have no influence on a decision

This Licensing Authority will determine an application without a hearing if the 
representations are considered to be either frivolous or vexatious or it is considered 
they will certainly not influence the determination of the application. 

Officers will decide whether representations are frivolous, vexatious or likely to have no 
influence on a decision and whether representations or applications for licence reviews 
should be referred to the General Purposes and Licensing Committee. 

In the event of this Licensing Authority   considering a representation to be frivolous 
or vexatious or a likely to have no influence on the decision, then the person making 
the representation will be informed in writing with the reasons for this decision clearly 
stated. There is no right of appeal against a determination that representations are not 
admissible.

3.11 - Exchange of information

The Licensing Authority is required to state the principles it will apply with respect to 
the exchange of information with the Gambling Commission and other persons listed 
within the Act. 

The Licensing Authority will have regard to any guidance issued by the Gambling 
Commission as well as any relevant regulations issued by the Secretary of State under 
the powers provided in the Act. 

The sharing of information will also comply with the Freedom of Information Act 2000, 
the Data Protection Act 2018 and the General Data Protection Regulation 2018. 

Where required, information sharing agreements and protocols will be entered into with 
the relevant persons oR bodies with functions under the Act.

Details of persons making representations will be forwarded to applicants in 
accordance with the Local Government Act 1972 in order to allow negotiation between 
the parties.

If a hearing is held it should be noted by all parties that their details will form part of a 
public document.

The Licensing Authority will maintain a register of the premises licences issued which 
will be available at any reasonable time to members of the public. There may be a 
charge for copies of entries in the register. 

81



12 Statement of Gambling Principles • 2022-2024

4. The Licensing objectives

This Licensing Authority will have regard to the licensing objectives as set out in 
the Act when exercising its functions. The licensing objectives are; 

i)  Preventing gambling from being a source of crime or disorder, being 
associated with crime or disorder or being used to support crime 

The Gambling Commission will take the lead role in the prevention of gambling from 
being a source of crime and are responsible for ensuring the suitability of an operator 
before issuing an operating licence. 

If this Licensing Authority becomes aware of any information whilst carrying out its 
functions which casts doubt over the appropriateness of the applicant or licensee it will 
ensure that this information is shared with the Gambling Commission.

The Guidance does however envisage that the Licensing Authority should pay attention 
to the proposed location of gambling premises in terms of this licensing objective. 
Where an area has known high levels of organised crime this Licensing Authority 
will consider carefully whether the location and the proposed gambling premises 
is suitable and whether conditions may be suitable, such as the provision of door 
supervisors. 

This Licensing Authority is aware of the distinction between disorder and nuisance and 
will consider factors such as if police assistance has been required at any time and the 
level of the threatening behaviour.

Issues of nuisance cannot be addressed by the provisions of the Act and problems of 
this nature can be addressed through other legislation as appropriate. 

This Licensing Authority places a considerable importance on the prevention of crime 
and disorder and will encourage applicants to discuss crime prevention procedures in 
their premises before making a formal application. 

ii) Ensuring that Gambling is conducted in a fair and open way

This Licensing Authority has noted that the Gambling Commission states it would 
not expect licensing authorities to become concerned with ensuring that gambling is 
conducted in a fair and open way as this will be addressed via operating and personal 
licences. There is, however, more of a role with regard to tracks which is explained in 
more detail in the ‘Tracks’ section.

The Gambling Commission is primarily responsible for ensuring that not only is 
gambling fair in the way it is played, but also that the rules are transparent to players 
and they know what to expect. It achieves this by working to ensure:-

• operating and personal licences are issued only to those who are suitable to offer 
gambling facilities or work in the industry,

• easily understandable information is made available by operators to players 
about, for example: the rules of the game, the probability of losing or winning, 
and the terms and conditions on which business is conducted,

• the rules are fair,

• advertising is not misleading,

82



Statement of Gambling Principles • 2022-2024 13

• the results of events and competitions on which commercial gambling takes 
place are public; and

• machines, equipment and software used to produce the outcome of games meet 
standards set by the Commission and operate as advertised.

If this Licensing Authority suspected that a gambling activity in the New Forest area 
was not being conducted in a fair and open way, the information would be brought to 
the attention of the Gambling Commission.

iii) Protecting children and other vulnerable persons from being harmed or 
exploited by gambling

The Act is intended to ensure that children and vulnerable persons should not be 
allowed to gamble, should be prohibited from entering those premises which are adult 
only environments and there should be a restriction on advertising so that gambling 
products are not aimed at, nor are particularly attractive, to children.

The Licensing Authority will, therefore, consider, as suggested in the Guidance, 
whether specific measures are required at particular premises with regard to this 
licensing objective. Appropriate measures may include supervision of entrances, 
machines, segregation of areas etc.

This Licensing Authority is required to state the principles it will apply in exercising its 
powers to designate, in writing, a body which is competent to advise the Licensing 
Authority about the protection of children from harm. 

This Licensing Authority will consult with the local Safeguarding Manager and the 
Community Safety Partnership on any application that indicates there may be 
concerns over access for children or vulnerable persons.

It is noted that the Gambling Commission does not offer a definition for the term 
“vulnerable persons” but states that “it will for the regulatory purposes assume that 
this group included people who gamble more than they want to; people who gamble 
beyond their means and people who may not be able to make informed or balanced 
decisions about gambling due to for example mental health, learning disability or 
substance misuse relating to alcohol or drugs”. 

This Licensing Authority will consider on a case by case basis whether any further 
unique considerations are required in relation to protecting vulnerable persons at 
a particular premises. These will be balanced against the aim to permit the use of 
premises for gambling.

83



14 Statement of Gambling Principles • 2022-2024

5. Premises Licences

5.0 - General principles

The Licensing Authority will issue premises licences to allow those premises to be 
used for certain types of gambling. Premises Licences are subject to requirements set 
out in the Act, the Gambling Act 2005 (Mandatory and Default Conditions) (England 
and Wales) Regulations 2007, the Gambling Commission Licence Conditions and 
Codes of Practice and Gambling Commission Guidance. Specific mandatory and 
default conditions must be applied to Premises Licences. This Licensing Authority may 
exclude default conditions and also attach others, where it believes it to be necessary 
and proportionate.

Applicants should also be aware that the Gambling Commission has issued Codes of 
Practice for each interest area, for which they must have regard. 

5.2 - Definition of premises

In the Act ‘premises’ is defined as including “any place”. Section 152 of the Act, 
therefore, prevents more than one premises licence applying to any place. But a 
single building could be subject to more than one premises licence, provided they 
are for different parts of the building and the different parts of the building can be 
reasonably regarded as being different premises. This approach has been taken to 
allow large, multiple unit premises such as a pleasure park, pier, track or shopping 
mall to obtain discrete premises licences where appropriate safeguards are in place. 
Licensing authorities should however pay particular attention if there are issues about 
sub-divisions of a single building or plot and should ensure that mandatory conditions 
relating to access between premises are observed. 

The Guidance states that: “In most cases the expectation is that a single building/plot 
will be the subject of an application for a licence, for example, 32 High Street. But that 
does not mean 32 High Street cannot be the subject of separate premises licences 
for a basement and ground floor. Whether different parts of a building can properly be 
regarded as being separate premises will depend on the circumstances. The location 
of the premises will clearly be an important consideration and the suitability of the 
division is likely to be a matter for discussion between the operator and licensing 
services. However, the Commission does not consider that areas of a building that are 
artificially separated, for example by ropes or moveable partitions, can properly be 
regarded as different premises.” 

This Licensing Authority will consider these and other relevant factors in making its 
decision on whether to issue a premises licence depending on all the circumstances of 
the case.

84



Statement of Gambling Principles • 2022-2024 15

5.3 - Premises “ready for gambling”

5.3.1- The Guidance

The Guidance states that a licence to use premises for gambling should only be issued 
in relation to premises that the Licensing Authority can be satisfied are going to be 
ready to be used for gambling in the reasonably near future, consistent with the scale 
of building or alterations required before the premise are brought into use.

If the construction of a premises is not yet complete, if the premises needs alteration 
or if the applicant does not yet have a right to occupy them then an application for a 
provisional statement should be made instead.

5.3.2 - Provisional statements

In deciding whether a premises licence can be granted, where there is outstanding 
construction or alteration works at premises, this Licensing Authority will determine 
applications on their merits, applying a two stage consideration process: 

• First, whether the premises ought to be permitted to be used for gambling; and 

• Secondly, whether appropriate conditions can be put in place to cater for the 
situation that the premises are not yet in the state in which they ought to be 
before gambling takes place. 

Applicants should note that this Licensing Authority in entitled to decide that it is 
appropriate to grant a licence subject to conditions, but it is not obliged to grant such a 
licence. 

Developers may wish to apply to this Licensing Authority for provisional statements 
before entering into a contract to buy or lease property or land to judge whether a 
development is worth taking forward in light of the need to obtain a premises licence. 

Section 204 of the Act provides for a person to make an application to the Licensing 
Authority for a provisional statement in respect of premises that they: 

• Expect to be constructed; 

• Expect to be altered; or 

• Expect to acquire a right to occupy. 

The process for considering an application for a provisional statement is the same as 
that for a premises licence application. The applicant is obliged to give notice of the 
application in the same way as applying for a premises licence. Responsible authorities 
and interested parties may make representations and there are rights of appeal. 

In contrast to the premises licence application, the applicant does not have to hold 
or have applied for an operating licence from the Gambling Commission (except in 
the case of a track application) and they do not have to have a right to occupy the 
premises in respect of which their provisional application is made.

85



16 Statement of Gambling Principles • 2022-2024

The holder of a provisional statement may then apply for a premises licence once 
the premises are constructed, altered or acquired. The Licensing Authority will then 
be constrained in the matters it can consider when determining the premises licence 
application in relation to the same premises. No further representations from relevant 
authorities or interested parties can be taken into account unless: 

• They concern matters which could not have been addressed at the provisional 
statement stage, or 

• They reflect a change in the applicant’s circumstances. 

In addition, the Licensing Authority may refuse the premises licence, or grant it on 
terms different to those attached to the provisional statement, only by reference to 
matters: 

• Which could not have been raised by objectors at the provisional statement 
stage; 

• Which in the authority’s opinion reflect a change in the operator’s circumstances; 
or 

• Where the premises have not been constructed in accordance with the plan 
submitted with the application. This must be a substantial change to the plan 
and this licensing authority notes that it can discuss any concerns it has with the 
applicant before making a decision.

5.4 - Location of premises

This Licensing Authority is aware that demand issues cannot be considered with 
regard to the location of premises but that considerations in terms of the licensing 
objectives are relevant to its decision making. As per the Guidance, this Licensing 
Authority will pay particular attention to the protection of children and vulnerable 
persons from being harmed or exploited by gambling, as well as issues of crime and 
disorder.

The Licensing Authority is also aware that “moral” objections to gambling cannot be 
taken into consideration in the determination of a premises licence. 

5.5 - Local risk assessments

From 6 April 2016, it has been a requirement of the Gambling Commission’s Licence 
Conditions and Codes of Practice (LCCP), under Part II, provision 10, for licensees 
(except for those which hold betting licences for tracks) to assess the local risks to 
the licensing objectives posed by the provision of gambling facilities at their premises. 
They are required to have policies, procedures and control measures to mitigate those 
risks. In making risk assessments, licensees must take into account relevant matters 
identified in this Policy. 

Licensees must review (and update as necessary) their local risk assessments: 

a) to take account of significant changes in local circumstance, including those 
identified in this policy; 

b) when there are significant changes at a licensee’s premises that may affect their 
mitigation of local risks; 

86



Statement of Gambling Principles • 2022-2024 17

c) when applying for a variation of a premises licence; and 

d) in any case, undertake a local risk assessment when applying for a new premises 
licence. 

The Licensing Authority will expect the local risk assessment to consider the setting 
including:  

• Whether the premises are in an area subject to high levels of crime and or 
disorder; 

• The location of services for children such as schools, playgrounds, toy shops, 
leisure centres; 

• Nearby gambling, drug, alcohol or mental health support facility; 

• Other gambling premises in the vicinity.

The local risk assessment should show how vulnerable people, including people with 
gambling dependencies, are protected through: 

• The training of staff to intervene when customers show signs of excessive 
gambling, the ability of staff to offer intervention and how the staffing of premises 
affects this. 

• Arrangements for dealing with monitoring under age and vulnerable persons. 
These may include - dedicated and trained personnel, leaflets, posters, self- 
exclusion schemes, window displays, and advertisements not to entice passers–
by.

87



18 Statement of Gambling Principles • 2022-2024

• Window displays and advertisements designed to not entice children and 
vulnerable people. The provision of signage and documents relating to game 
rules, gambling care providers and other relevant information be provided in both 
English and the other prominent first language for that locality. 

• An assessment of the proximity of premises that may be frequented by 
vulnerable people such as hospitals, residential care homes, medical facilities, 
doctors’ surgeries, council community hubs, addiction clinics or help centres and 
places where alcohol or drug dependent people may congregate. 

The local risk assessment should show how children are to be protected through an 
assessment of: 

• The proximity of institutions, places or areas where children and young people 
frequent such as schools, youth clubs, parks, playgrounds and entertainment 
venues such as bowling allies, cinemas, etc. 

• The proximity of places where children congregate such as bus stops, cafes and 
shops. 

Other matters that the assessment may include: 

• Details as to the location and coverage of working CCTV cameras, and how the 
system will be monitored. 

• The layout of the premises so that staff have an unobstructed view of people 
using the premises. 

• The number of staff that will be available on the premises at any one time. 
If at any time that number is one, confirm the supervisory and monitoring 
arrangements when that person is absent from the licensed area or distracted 
from supervising the premises and observing those people using the premises. 

• Where the application is for a betting premises licence (other than in respect of a 
track), the location and extent of any part of the premises which will be used to 
provide facilities for gambling in reliance on the licence. 

Such information may be used to inform the decision the Licensing Authority makes 
about whether to grant the licence, to grant the licence with special conditions or to 
refuse the application. 

This Policy does not preclude any application being made and each application will 
be decided on its merits, with the onus being upon the applicant to show how the 
concerns can be overcome. 

5.6 - Local Area Profiles

Each locality has its own character and challenges. It is for the Licensing Authority 
to determine if publishing a local area profile for the district is appropriate to address 
any local issues. Any local profile produced would be included in this Policy or as a 
separate document.

Where a local area profile exists this should be referred to by applicants and licensees 
when making an application and producing a risk assessment. The New Forest District 
Council does not currently have a local area profile.

88



Statement of Gambling Principles • 2022-2024 19

5.7 - Conditions

The Licensing Authority  is aware of the Gambling Act 2005 (Mandatory and Default 
Conditions) (England and Wales) Regulations 2007 and the Gambling Commission 
Licence Conditions and Codes of Practice which imposes mandatory conditions that 
are necessary for the general good conduct of gambling premises. Therefore, it is 
unlikely that the Licensing Authority will need to include individual conditions imposing 
a more restricted regime in relation to matters that have already been dealt with.

Where there are specific risks or problems associated with a particular locality, or 
specific premises, or class of premises, the Licensing Authority will attach individual 
conditions to address this. 

Any conditions attached to licences will be proportionate and will be: 

• relevant to the need to make the proposed building suitable as a gambling 
facility; 

• directly related to the premises (including the locality and any identified local risk) 
and the type of licence applied for; 

• fairly and reasonably related to the scale and type of premises; 

• reasonable in all other respects; and

• consistent with those attached to Operators’ Licences.

Decisions upon individual conditions will be made on a case by case basis, although 
there will be a number of measures this Licensing Authority  will consider utilising 
should there be a perceived need, such as the use of supervisors, appropriate 
signage for adult only areas, etc. There are specific comments made in this regard 
under some of the licence types below. This Licensing Authority will also expect the 
licence applicant to offer his/her own suggestions as to the way in which the licensing 
objectives can be met effectively.

Where certain measures are not already addressed by the mandatory/default 
conditions or by the applicant, the Licensing Authority  may consider imposing licence 
conditions to cover issues such as: 

• Proof of age schemes. 

• CCTV. 

• Supervision of entrances. 

• Supervision of machine areas. 

• A reduction in the number of betting machines (betting premises). 

• The manning of premises. 

• Physical separation of areas. 

• Location of entrance points. 

• Notices/signage. 

• Specific opening hours. 

89



20 Statement of Gambling Principles • 2022-2024

• A requirement that children must be accompanied by an adult (in premises where 
children are allowed). 

• Enhanced Disclosing Barring Service checks of the applicant and/or staff. 

• Staff training in brief intervention, conflict resolution, basic knowledge of mental 
health, learning disabilities and addiction, including substance misuse. 

• Support to people with gambling addiction, including brief intervention. 

• Policies to address seasonal periods where children may more frequently 
attempt to gain access to premises and gamble such as pre and post school 
hours, half term and school holidays. 

• Policies to address the problems associated with truant children who may 
attempt to gain access to premises and gamble. 

• Obscuring windows where appropriate and labelling premises so it’s clear that 
they are gambling premises. 

• Self-exclusion schemes. 

• Provision of information leaflets / helpline numbers for organisations such as 
GamCare. 

This list is not mandatory or exhaustive and is merely indicative of examples of certain 
measures which may satisfy the requirements of the Licensing Authority and the 
Responsible Authorities, depending on the nature and location of the premises and the 
gambling facilities to be provided. 

This Licensing Authority will also consider specific measures which may be required 
for buildings which are subject to multiple premises licences. Such measures may 
include:

• the supervision of entrances; 

• segregation of gambling from non-gambling areas frequented by children; and 

• the supervision of gaming machines in non-adult gambling specific premises in 
order to pursue the licensing objectives. 

These matters are in accordance with the Guidance.

This Licensing Authority  will also ensure that where category C or above machines are 
on offer in premises to which children are admitted: 

• all such machines are located in an area of the premises which is separated from 
the remainder of the premises by a physical barrier which is effective to prevent 
access other than through a designated entrance but which does not impede the 
escape route from that or other areas; 

• only adults are admitted to the area where these machines are located; 

• access to the area where the machines are located is supervised; 

• the area where these machines are located is arranged so that it can be 
observed by the staff or the licence holder; and 

90



Statement of Gambling Principles • 2022-2024 21

• at the entrance to and inside any such areas there are prominently displayed 
notices indicating that access to the area is prohibited to persons under 18.

These considerations will apply to premises including buildings where multiple 
premises licences are applicable

This Licensing Authority is aware that tracks may be subject to one or more than one 
premises licence, provided each licence relates to a specified area of the track. In 
accordance with the Guidance, this Authority will consider the impact upon the third 
licensing objective and the need to ensure that entrances to each type of premises 
are distinct and that children are excluded from gambling areas where they are not 
permitted to enter. 

It is noted that there are conditions which the Licensing Authority  cannot attach to 
premises licences which are: 

• any condition on the premises licence which makes it impossible to comply with 
an operating licence condition; 

• conditions relating to gaming machine categories, numbers, or method of 
operation; 

• conditions which provide that membership of a club or body be required; and 

• conditions in relation to stakes, fees, winning or prizes 

5.8 - Types of premises

There are a number of premises which may be licensed by the Licensing Authority. 
This section provides a brief overview of these premises.

5.8.1 - Adult Gaming Centres (AGC)

An AGC is a gambling premises for those over the age of 18 that makes available 
gaming machines of Category B, C and D which pay out higher jackpots. The numbers 
and categories of higher jackpot machines that can be placed in adult gaming centres 
is prescribed.

For this Licensing Authority to accept an application for an AGC, the Operator must 
already hold a Gaming Machines General Operating Licence (Adult Gaming Centre) 
with the Gambling Commission.

The Licensing Authority will need to be satisfied that there will be sufficient measures 
to meet the licensing objectives and comply with all mandatory conditions and the 
Gambling Codes of Practice. As no one under the age of 18 is permitted to enter 
an AGC, this Licensing Authority will specifically have regard to the need to protect 
children and vulnerable persons form harm or being exploited by gambling. 

Conditions may be attached to such licences to cover, amongst other matters, issues 
such as:

• Proof of age schemes;

• CCTV;

• Door supervisors;

• Supervision of entrances / machine areas;

91



22 Statement of Gambling Principles • 2022-2024

• Physical separation of areas;

• Location of entry;

• Notices / signage;

• Specific opening hours;

• Self-barring schemes;

• Provision of information leaflets / helpline numbers for organisations such as 
GamCare.

This list is not mandatory, nor exhaustive, and is merely indicative of example 
measures.

5.8.2 - Family Entertainment Centres (FEC) (licensed)

The Act puts FEC into two categories;

1. Licensed; and

2. Unlicensed.

A licensed FEC is a premises which usually provides a range of amusements such as 
computer games, penny pushers and may have a separate section set aside for adult 
only gaming machines with higher stakes and prizes.

Licensed FEC centres are permitted to provide unlimited category C and D gaming 
machines whereas unlicensed family entertainment centres can only provide category 
D machines in reliance on a gambling machine permit.

This Licensing Authority will specifically have regard to the need to protect children 
and vulnerable persons from harm or from being exploited by gambling and will expect 
the applicant to satisfy the Licensing Authority that there will be sufficient measures to 
ensure that under 18 year olds do not have access to the adult only gaming machine 
areas.  

The Gambling Commission considers that it is not permissible for gaming machines 
which should be contained within the FEC premises to be located in corridors and 
walkways which form part of the larger building.

For this Licensing Authority to accept an application for an FEC, the Operator must 
already hold a Gaming Machine General Operating Licence (Family Entertainment 
Centre) with the Gambling Commission.

If category C gaming machines are made available for use on the premises of an FEC 
then the gaming machines must be;

• Separated from the rest of the premises by a physical barrier to prevent access 
other than via an entrance designed to be the entrance;

• Supervised at all times to ensure children or young persons do not enter the 
area; and

• Arranged so that the area can be observed by persons responsible for 
supervision or CCTV which is monitored.

92



Statement of Gambling Principles • 2022-2024 23

5.8.3 - Casinos

The Act states that a casino is an arrangement whereby people are given the opportunity 
to participate in one or more casino games. A casino game is defined as a game of chance 
which is not equal chance gaming.

The Licensing Authority has not passed a resolution not to issue Casino Licences under 
Section 166 of the Act but is aware of its power to do so. 

Should, at any time, the Licensing Authority decide to pass such a resolution, it will update 
this policy statement with details of that resolution. Any such decision would be made by 
Full Council. 

5.8.4 - Bingo premises

There is no official definition for bingo in the Act, however, there are two types of bingo 
most frequently played:

1. cash bingo; and 
2. prize bingo.

The Licensing Authority acknowledges that children and young people can be allowed 
entry into bingo premises, however, they are not allowed to take part in bingo or use 
category B and C machines. 

Where category B or C gaming machines are available in the premises to which children 
are admitted the Licensing Authority  will require that;

• the category B and C gaming machines must be separated from the rest of the 
premises by a physical barrier which is effective to prevent access other than 
through a designated entrance;

• only adults are admitted to the area where the machines are located;

• access to the area where the machines are located is supervised at all times

• the area where the machines are located can be observed by staff

• the gaming machines area must also have a notice at the entrance stating that no 
person under the age of 18 years is permitted to enter the area. 

5.8.5 - Betting premises

The Act defines betting as the making or accepting of a bet on the outcome of a race, 
competition or other event or process, the likelihood of anything occurring or not occurring 
or whether anything is or is not true. A transaction may still be a bet despite the fact the 
race, competition or event has already taken place and one party to the transaction knows 
the outcome. 

The most common form of betting is fixed odds betting whereby the customer bets a stake 
to win a fixed amount calculated by the odds available. 

For this Licensing Authority to accept an application for a betting premises, the operator 
must hold the appropriate operating licence with the Gambling Commission. 

This Licensing Authority expects betting premises to have particular regard to social 
responsibility and the protection of children and vulnerable persons from harm and to satisfy 
the Licensing Authority  that there are sufficient measures to ensure under 18 year olds do 
not have access to the premises.

93



24 Statement of Gambling Principles • 2022-2024

5.8.6 - Tracks

The Act defines a track as a horse racecourse, greyhound track or other premises 
on any part of which a race or other sporting event takes place or is intended to take 
place. 

The Licensing Authority is aware that tracks differ greatly from other premises and may 
be subject to one or more Premises Licences. The track operators may not be required 
to hold an Operating Licence, due to the fact that the individual bookmakers at the 
track will be required to hold their own Operating Licences. 

The Licensing Authority will especially consider the impact upon the protection of 
children and vulnerable persons from being harmed or exploited by gambling and the 
need to ensure that entrances to each type of premises are distinct and that children 
are excluded from gambling areas where they are not permitted to enter.

This Licensing Authority will, therefore, expect the premises licence applicant to 
demonstrate suitable measures to ensure that children do not have access to adult 
only gaming facilities.  It is noted that children and young persons will be permitted to 
enter track areas where facilities for betting are provided on days when dog racing or 
horse racing takes place, but that they are still prevented from entering areas where 
gaming machines are provided other than category D.  

The Licensing Authority  may consider measures to meet the licensing objectives such 
as; 

• Proof of age schemes 

• CCTV 

• Supervision of entrances & machine areas 

• Physical separation of areas 

• Location of entry 

• Notices & signage 

• Specific opening hours 

• Self-exclusion schemes 

• Provision of information leaflets & helpline numbers for organisations such as 
GamCare 

Where the applicant holds a pool betting operating licence and is going to use the 
entitlement to four gaming machines other than category D, they should be located in 
areas from which children are excluded. 

The Licensing Authority will take into account the size of the premises and the ability 
of staff to monitor the use of the machines by children and vulnerable persons when 
considering the number nature or circumstances of betting machines an operator 
proposes to offer. 

It may be appropriate for the applicant to provide the following to support an 
application;

• Proof that measures are in place to promote the third licensing objective; 

94



Statement of Gambling Principles • 2022-2024 25

• Specify what proposals have been made to administrate betting; 

• Detailed plan of the track and grounds which identify any fixed betting, areas 
specifically used by on course operators on race days, the location of the gaming 
machines, temporary structures and mobile betting facilities.

Plans should be clear on what is being sought for authorisation under the track 
betting premises licence and what; if any; other areas are to be subject to a separate 
application for a different type of premises licence.

5.9 - Travelling Fairs

Travelling fairs have traditionally been able to provide various types of low stake 
gambling without the need for a licence or permit provided that certain conditions are 
met. 

Travelling fairs have the right to provide an unlimited number of category D gaming 
machines or equal chance prize gaming without a permit, provided that the facilities for 
gambling amount to no more than an ancillary amusement at the fair. 

This Licensing Authority will consider whether the applicant falls within the statutory 
definition of a travelling fair.

It is noted that the 27 day statutory maximum for the land being used as a fair applies 
on a calendar year basis and that it applies to the piece of land on which the fairs are 
held, regardless of whether it is the same or different travelling fairs occupying the 
land.  This Licensing Authority will work with its neighbouring authorities to ensure that 
land which crosses our boundaries is monitored so that the statutory limits are not 
exceeded.

95



26 Statement of Gambling Principles • 2022-2024

6. Permits, notices and lotteries

The Act introduces a range of permits for gambling. Permits are required when 
premises provide a gambling facility but either the stakes and prizes are very 
low or gambling is not the main function of the premises. The permits regulate 
gambling and the use of gaming machines in a specific premises.

This section of the Policy provides an overview of these permits, notices and lotteries. 

Licensing Authorities may only grant or reject an application for a permit and cannot 
impose or attach any conditions. The permits issued by the Licensing Authority are for; 

• Unlicensed family entertainment centres;

• Club gaming permits and club machine permits;

• Alcohol licensed premises gaming machine permits; and

• Prize gaming permits.

6.1 - Unlicensed Family Entertainment Centres- Gaming Machine Permits 
(uFEC)

Where a premises does not hold a premises licence but wishes to provide gaming 
machines, it may apply to the Licensing Authority for a uFEC permit.

It should be noted that the applicant must show that the premises will be wholly or 
mainly used for making gaming machines available for use. 

In accordance with the Guidance; an application for a permit may only be granted if the 
Licensing Authority is satisfied that the premises will be used as an uFEC, and if the 
Chief Officer of Police has been consulted on the application. 

This Licensing Authority will require applicants to demonstrate: 

• A full understanding of the maximum stakes and prizes of the gambling that is 
permissible in uFECs; 

• That they have no relevant convictions, those set out in Schedule 7 of the Act; 
and 

• That staff are trained to have a full understanding of the maximum stakes and 
prizes. 

Also, this Licensing Authority will expect the applicant to show that there are policies 
and procedures in place to protect children from harm. Harm in this context is not 
limited to harm from gambling but includes wider child protection considerations. The 
efficiency of such policies and procedures will each be considered on their merits, 
however, they may include appropriate measures, such as staff training, regarding 
suspected truant school children on the premises or dealing with unsupervised young 
children on the premises. 

An application for a uFEC should be accompanied by a plan.

96



Statement of Gambling Principles • 2022-2024 27

6.2 - Alcohol licensed premises - Gaming machine permits

There is an automatic entitlement for premises licensed to sell alcohol for consumption 
on the premises to have two machines of category C and/or D under section 282 of the 
Act. The premises merely need to notify the Licensing Authority using the prescribed 
form and pay the fee.

It should also be noted that the holder of a permit must comply with any Code of 
Practice issued by the Gambling Commission about the location and operation of 
gaming machines.

The Licensing Authority  can remove the automatic authorisation in respect of any 
particular premises if: 

• Provision of the machines is not reasonable consistent with the pursuit of the 
licensing objectives; 

• Gaming has taken place on the premises that breaches a condition of section 
282 of the Act; 

• The premises are mainly used for gaming; or 

• An offence under the Act has been committed on the premises. 

If a premises wishes to have more than two machines, it needs to apply for a permit. 
The Licensing Authority must consider that application based upon the licensing 
objectives, the Guidance and such matters as they think relevant. This may include 
consultation with responsible authorities and submission of plans of the premises 
showing the location of machines. 

This Licensing Authority considers that such matters will be decided on a case by case 
basis but generally there will be regard to the need to protect children and vulnerable 
persons from being harmed or being exploited by gambling. It will expect the applicant 
to satisfy the Licensing Authority that there will be sufficient measures to ensure that 
under 18 year olds do not have access to the adult only gaming machines. 

Measures which will satisfy the Licensing Authority that there will be no access may 
include the adult machines being in sight of the bar, or in the sight of staff that will 
monitor that the machines are not being used by those under 18. Notices and signage 
may also help. 

In regard to the protection of vulnerable persons, applicants may wish to consider 
the provision of information leaflets and helpline numbers for organisations such as 
GamCare. 

It is recognised that some alcohol licensed premises may apply for a premises licence 
for their non-alcohol licensed areas. Any such application would most likely be applied 
for and dealt with as an Adult Gaming or FEC premises licence, dependant on the 
suitability of the premises or category of gaming machine requested. 

It should be noted that the Licensing Authority can decide to grant the application 
with a smaller number of machines and or a different category of machines than that 
applied for. Conditions other than these cannot be attached. 

97



28 Statement of Gambling Principles • 2022-2024

6.3 - Prize gaming permits 

Gaming is defined in the Act as prize gaming if the nature and size of the prize is not 
determined by the number of people playing or the amount paid for or raised by the 
gaming. The prizes are determined by the operator before play commences. 

A prize gaming permit is a permit issued by the Licensing Authority to authorise the 
provision of facilities for gaming with prizes on specified premises.

This Licensing Authority  expects the applicant for a prize gaming permit to set out the 
types of gaming that they are intending to offer and that the applicant should be able 
to demonstrate the following matters: 

• That they understand the limits to stakes and prizes that are set out in the 
Gambling Act 2005 (Limits on Prize Gaming) Regulations 2009; 

• That the gaming offered is within the law; 

• Clear policies that outline the steps to be taken to protect children from harm.

If the premises will appeal to children and young persons, the Licensing Authority may 
consider it necessary to consult the Hampshire Safeguarding Children Board. 

In making its decision on an application for this permit the Licensing Authority does not 
need to, but may, have regard to the licensing objectives but must have regard to the 
Guidance. 

The Licensing Authority can grant or refuse an application for a permit but cannot 
add conditions. The permit may only be granted if the Chief Officer of Police has been 
consulted on the application. 

Relevant considerations in making this determination includes the suitability of the 
applicant in terms of convictions that would make them unsuitable to operate prize 
gaming; and the suitability of the premises in relation to their location and any issues 
concerning disorder.

Conditions on such a permit must be complied with in accordance with the Act. 

Relevant considerations would include the suitability of the applicant in terms of 
convictions that would make them unsuitable to operate prize gaming; and the 
suitability of the premises in relation to their location and any issues concerning 
disorder.

If the permit holder is convicted of a relevant offence under the Gambling Act 2005, the 
court may order the forfeiture of the permit.

6.4 - Club gaming and club machine permits 

The Act creates a separate regime for gaming in clubs from that in other relevant 
alcohol licensed premises. It defines two types of club for the purposes of gaming;

• Members clubs; and 

• Commercial clubs

A members’ club is a club that is not established as a commercial enterprise and is 
conducted for the benefit of its members. The Act states that members clubs must 
have at least 25 members and be established and conducted ‘wholly or mainly’ for 

98



Statement of Gambling Principles • 2022-2024 29

purposes other than gaming, unless the gaming is permitted by separate regulations. 
Examples include working men’s clubs, branches of the Royal British Legion and clubs 
with political affiliations. Members’ clubs may apply for a club gaming permit or a club 
machine permit. 

A commercial club is a club established for commercial gain whether or not they are 
actually making a commercial gain. Examples of these include commercial snooker 
clubs, or clubs established as private companies. Commercial clubs can only apply for 
a club machine permit.

Miners’ Welfare Institutes are associations established for recreational or social 
purposes. They are managed by representatives of miners or use premises regulated 
by a charitable trust which has received funds from one of a number of mining 
organisations. Miners’ welfare institutes may also apply for club gaming permits and 
club machine permits. 

A club gaming permit will enable the premises to provide gaming machines (3 
machines of categories B, C or D), equal chance gaming and games of chance as set 
out in regulations. 

A club machine permit will enable the premises to provide gaming machines (3 
machines of categories B, C or D). 

Licensing Authority may only refuse an application for a club permit on the grounds 
that: 

• The applicant does not fulfil the requirements for a members’ or commercial 
club or miners’ welfare institute and therefore not entitled to receive this type of 
permit;

• The applicant’s premises are used wholly or mainly by children or young persons; 

• An offence under the Act or a breach of a permit has been committed by the 
applicant while providing gaming facilities; 

• A permit held by the applicant has been cancelled in the previous ten years; or 

• An objection has been lodged by the Gambling Commission or the Police. 

There is a ‘fast-track’ procedure available under the Act for premises which hold a Club 
Premises Certificate under the Licensing Act 2003. Under the fast track procedure 
there is no opportunity for objections to be made by the Gambling Commission or 
Police, and the grounds upon which an authority can refuse a permit are reduced. 

The grounds on which an application under this process may be refused are: 

• That  the club is established primarily for gaming, other than gaming prescribed 
by regulation under section 266 of the Act; 

• That in addition to the prescribed gaming, the applicant provides facilities for 
other gaming; or 

• That a club permit issued to the applicant in the last 10 years has been 
cancelled. 

There are statutory conditions on club gaming permits that no child uses a category B 
or C machine on the premises and that the holder complies with any relevant provision 
of a code of practice about the location and operation of gaming machines.

99



30 Statement of Gambling Principles • 2022-2024

6.5 - Temporary Use Notice (TUN)

A TUN allows the use of premises for gambling where there is no premises licence or 
permit in place but where a gambling operator wishes to use the premises temporarily 
for providing facilities for gambling. Premises that might be suitable for a TUN, 
according to the Guidance, would include hotels, conference centres and sporting 
venues. 

The Licensing Authority can only grant a TUN to a person or company holding a 
relevant operating licence. 

The Gambling Act 2005 (Temporary Use Notices) Regulations 2007prescribe what form 
of gambling can be authorised by a TUN.  

The Regulations state that a TUN:

• Can only be used to offer gambling of a form authorised by the operator’s 
operating licence;

• May only be made available on a maximum of 21 days in any 12 month period for 
any or all of a named set of premises;

• Can only be used for the provision of facilities for equal chance gaming where the 
gaming is intended to produce a single winner, such as a poker tournament.  

• Does not permit the provision of gaming machines.

The Act also sets out the nature and form of the TUN to be given by the operator, 
bodies to be informed, objections and appeals information.

The holder of an operating licence must give the TUN to the Licensing Authority not 
less than three months and one day before the day on which the gambling event will 
begin. The TUN must also be copied to the prescribed consultees. 

Where the premises are situated in an area covered by this Licensing Authority and 
another authority, the Licensing Authority will work closely with the neighbouring 
authority to ensure that the 21-day maximum period for the TUN is not breached.

The meaning of ‘premises’ will be a question of fact in the particular circumstances of 
each notice that is given. In considering whether ‘any place’ falls within the definition, 
the Licensing Authority needs to look at, amongst other things, the ownership or 
occupation and control of the premises. 

This Licensing Authority expects to object to notices where it appears that their effect 
would be to permit regular gambling in a place that could be described as one set of 
premises, as recommended in the Guidance.

6.6 - Occasional Use Notices (OUN)

The Act provides that where there is betting on a track on 8 days or fewer in a calendar 
year, betting may be permitted by an occasional use notice (OUN).

OUNs can only be relied upon for 8 days or fewer in a calendar year and therefore the 
Licensing Authority will keep a record of the number of OUNs served in relation to each 
track. 

A separate OUN must be submitted for each day that betting activity will be conducted 
on the premises. 

100



Statement of Gambling Principles • 2022-2024 31

The Licensing Authority has very little discretion with regard to OUNs aside from 
ensuring that the statutory limit of 8 days per calendar year is not exceeded. 

This Licensing Authority will consider the definition, as provided in the Act and the 
Guidance, of a ‘track’ and whether the applicant is permitted to give notice.

6.7 - Small society lotteries 

A simple lottery is a form of gambling that has three essential elements; 

• a payment is required to participate; 

• one or more prizes are awarded; and 

• those prizes are awarded by chance. 

A complex lottery differs in that the prizes are allocated by a series of processes, and 
the first of those processes relies wholly on chance. There are two categories that they 
fall into; 

1. Licensed lotteries that require an operating licence from the Gambling 
Commission; and 

2. Exempt lotteries, including small society lotteries, which require registration with 
the Licensing Authority.

Small society lotteries are lotteries promoted for the benefit of a Non-Commercial 
Society and the total value of tickets to be put on sale per single lottery must be 
£20,000 or less, or the aggregate value of tickets to be put on sale for all their lotteries 
in a calendar year must not exceed £250,000.

This Licensing Authority will only licence small society lotteries whose principal office 
is located in the district. 

This Licensing Authority will take account of any Guidance issued by the Gambling 
Commission in registering and controlling non-commercial societies. Non-commercial 
societies are established and conducted:-

• for charitable purposes; 

• for the purpose of enabling participation in, or supporting, sport, athletics or a 
cultural activity; or

• for any other non-commercial purpose other than private gain. 

Applicants or potential applicants will be referred to the Gambling Commission’s 
advisory documents to assist. 

Applicants will need to inform the Licensing Authority the purpose in which the Society 
was originally established and the Society will need to declare they represent a bona 
fide Non-Commercial Society and have no relevant convictions.

An application will be refused if any of the following apply;

• An applicant has held an operating licence that has been revoked in the 
preceding 5 years;

• they have applied for registration of an operating licence in the preceding 5 years 
that has been refused;

101



32 Statement of Gambling Principles • 2022-2024

• The society in question cannot be deemed non-commercial;

• A person who will or may be connected with the promotion of the lottery has 
been convicted of a relevant offence, listed in Schedule 7 of the Act.

• Information provided in or with the application for registration is found to be false 
or misleading.

When an application is going to be refused the Society will have an opportunity to 
make representation against the decision. The Licensing Authority will notify the 
Society of the reasons for the refusal in writing.

This Licensing Authority will keep a register of all applications for Small Society 
Lotteries and will provide information to the Gambling Commission on all lotteries 
registered by the Licensing Authority.

102



Statement of Gambling Principles • 2022-2024 33

7. Compliance and Enforcement

The main enforcement and compliance role for this Licensing Authority in 
terms of the Act is to ensure compliance with the premises licences and other 
permissions which it authorises. The Gambling Commission is the enforcement 
body for operating and personal licences. 

It is also worth noting that concerns about manufacture, supply or repair of gaming 
machines will not be dealt with by the Licensing Authority but will be notified to the 
Gambling Commission. In circumstances where the Licensing Authority believes a 
premises requires a premises licence for gambling activities and no such licence is in 
force, the Licensing Authority will alert the Gambling Commission.

This Policy contains the principles to be applied by the Licensing Authority in 
exercising its powers of inspection under part 15 of the Act and instigating criminal 
proceedings in accordance with section 346 of the Act. 

The Licensing Authority seeks to comply with statutory principles of good regulation 
and the Regulators’ Code. 

The Licensing Authority aims to promote efficient and effective regulatory approaches 
which improve outcomes without imposing unnecessary burdens on business during 
the course of exercising its enforcement powers.

This Licensing Authority will also keep itself informed of developments with regard 
to the work of the Better Regulation Executive in its consideration of the regulatory 
functions of local authorities. 

7.1 - Inspection

This Licensing Authority inspects premises in the New Forest to ensure compliance 
using a risk-based approach based on: 

• The licensing objectives; 

• Relevant codes of practice; 

• Guidance issued by the Gambling Commission; and

• The principles set out in this Policy

Premises that are a higher risk or have a history of complaints will be inspected more 
frequently than those premises with lower perceived risks. However, Licensing Officers 
will also be permitted to use their discretion.

Inspections may be carried out on Temporary Use Notices and Occasional Use 
Notices to ensure that the licensing objectives are being promoted.

Joint visits may take place with Responsible Authorities or other agencies, where 
relevant.

103



34 Statement of Gambling Principles • 2022-2024

7.2 - Powers of entry

Licensing Officers are authorised to inspect Gambling Premises in order to assess the 
premises compliance with the terms and conditions of the Premises Licence.

Authorised Officers have a number of enforcement powers, including the power to;

• Enter any gambling premises or premises where gambling is believed to be 
taking place;

• Use reasonable force, in certain circumstances, in order to enter the premises for 
inspection purposes, should it be necessary;

• Inspect any part of the premises, any machine or other thing,

• Question any person on the premises;

• Access to any written or electronic record which is kept on the premises, or 
require that a copy is provided;

• Remove or retain anything if they reasonably believe that it constitutes or 
contains evidence of the commission of an offence under the Act, or a breach of 
a term or condition of the premises licence.

It should be noted that it is an offence if a person, without reasonable excuse, 
obstructs or fails to cooperate with an Authorised Officer who is exercising powers 
under Part 15 the Act.

It is also an offence to provide false information without reasonable excuse to the 
Authorised Officer.

7.3 - Complaints

This Licensing Authority will investigate complaints against licensed premises in 
relation to matters relating to the licensing objectives for which it has responsibility.  In 
the first instance, complainants are encouraged to raise the complaint directly with the 
licence holder or business concerned to seek a local resolution.

Where an interested party has made either a valid representation about licensed 
premises or a valid application for a licence to be reviewed, the Licensing Authority 
may initially arrange a conciliation meeting to address and clarify the issues of 
concern.

This process will not override the right of any interested party to ask that the licensing 
committee consider their valid objections or for any licence holder to decline to 
participate in a conciliation meeting.

104



Statement of Gambling Principles • 2022-2024 35

7.4 - Enforcement

The Licensing Authority will work closely with the responsible authorities and will aim 
to promote the licensing objectives by targeting known high risk premises following 
government guidance around better regulation. 

Specifically the Licensing Authority is subject to the Regulators’ Code which provides the 
following six provisions which the Licensing Authority should follow in its enforcement 
activities, unless it concludes, on the basis of material evidence, that a specific provision 
of the Code is either not applicable or outweighed by another relevant consideration. 

1. Regulators should carry out their activities in a way that supports those they 
regulate to comply and grow; 

2. Regulators should provide simple and straightforward ways to engage with those 
they regulate and hear their views; 

3. Regulators should base their regulatory activities on risk; 

4. Regulators should share information about compliance and risk; 

5. Regulators should ensure clear information, guidance and advice is available to 
help those they regulate meet their responsibilities to comply ; and

6. Regulators should ensure that their approach to their regulatory activities is 
transparent 

In carrying out its enforcement duties with regards to the inspection of premises; and the 
powers to institute criminal proceedings in respect of certain offences under the Act the 
Licensing Authority will endeavour to be: 

• Proportionate: regulators should only intervene when necessary: remedies    
should be appropriate to the risk posed, and costs identified and minimised; 

• Accountable: regulators must be able to justify decisions, and be subject to public 
scrutiny; 

• Consistent: rules and standards must be joined up and implemented fairly; 

• Transparent: regulators should be open, and keep regulations simple and user 
friendly; and 

• Targeted: regulation should be focused on the problem, and minimise side effects. 

In line with the Guidance this Licensing Authority will endeavour to avoid duplication with 
other regulatory regimes as far as possible. 

Where there is a Primary Authority scheme in place, the Licensing Authority will seek 
guidance from the Primary Authority before taking any enforcement action. At the time 
of the publication of this policy there were four Primary Authority arrangements with host 
local authorities: 

• Coral - London Borough of Newham 

• William Hill -  City of Westminster 

• Ladbrokes -  Milton Keynes 

• Paddy Power -  Reading 

105



36 Statement of Gambling Principles • 2022-2024

Prosecutions 

The Licensing Authority has the power to prosecute the offence of using premises for 
gambling without the requisite permissions.

Section 346 of the Act sets out all of the offences that the Licensing Authority may 
institute criminal proceedings in respect of. 

In exceptional circumstances, such as repeated deliberate breaches of premises 
licence conditions, licensed operators or permit holders may be prosecuted without 
any prior regulatory action, such as warnings, cautions suspension or revocation of 
licence or removal of permit.

Otherwise, the Licensing Authority will follow a hierarchy of enforcement action.

The Licensing Authority will also consult with the Police as required by the Guidance 
where appropriate and consider if any other enforcement provisions under other 
legislation is appropriate.

7.5 - Review of premises licence

The review of a premises licence may be instigated by this Licensing Authority or at the 
request of a responsible authority or interested party. It is, however, for the Licensing 
Authority to decide whether the review is to be carried-out.

The Licensing Authority may review any matter connected with the use made of the 
premises if: 

• it has reason to suspect that premises licence conditions are not being observed;

• the premises is operating outside of the principles set out in the licensing 
authority’s statement of policy;

• there is evidence to suggest that compliance with the licensing objectives is at 
risk; or

• for any other reason which gives them cause to believe that a review may be 
appropriate, such as a complaint from a third party. 

The Licensing Authority will not hold a review if, in the opinion of the authority, the 
grounds on which a review is sought:-

1. are frivolous (see paragraph 3.10 above);

2. are vexatious (see paragraph 3.10 above);

3. are substantially the same grounds cited in a previous application for a review 
relating to the same premises;

4. are substantially the same as representations made at the time of an application 
for a premises licence;

5. are not relevant to the principles that must be applied by the Licensing Authority  
in accordance with:

• the licensing objectives, 

• the Commission’s codes of practice 

106



Statement of Gambling Principles • 2022-2024 37

• the Guidance, or 

• this Policy 

6.  ‘will certainly not’ cause the licensing authority to revoke or suspend a licence or 
to remove, amend or attach conditions on the premises licence

In the case of grounds 3 and 4 above, the Licensing Authority will take into account the 
time, which has passed since the earlier application.

The Licensing Authority is mindful that the decision on whether to grant an application 
for review by a responsible authority or an interested person must not amount to pre-
judging the outcome of a review.

A review can be held in relation to a class of premises or in relation to particular 
premises.

The outcome of such a review may be the introduction of default conditions attached 
to all premises licences within that class.

7.6 - Right of Appeal and Judicial Review

The Licensing Authority will aim to provide reasons for all decisions. It will aim to:

• Give clear and comprehensive reasons for a rejection of an application where 
there is a requirement in the Act to do so; and 

• Wherever practicable, give clear and comprehensive reasons for all decisions 
connected to its functions under the Act, regardless of whether there is a 
requirement under the Act to do so.

These reasons will reflect the extent to which the decision has been made with regard 
to this Policy and the Guidance.

A right of appeal exists to the applicant or any person making a relevant representation 
against a decision of the Licensing Authority.

An application for an appeal has to be made to the Magistrates Court within the time 
specified in the Act, following written notification of the decision. 

This Licensing Authority will ensure that attention is drawn to this right of appeal when 
decision notices are served.

107



38 Statement of Gambling Principles • 2022-2024

8. Policy review

This policy takes effect on 8 January 2022 and will remain in force until 31 
December 2024. It will be subject to periodic reviews and further consultation in 
line with current Government guidance.

When reviewing this policy account will be taken of any additional guidance issued by 
the Gambling Commission and the results of any consultations received.

108



Statement of Gambling Principles • 2022-2024 39

Appendix A 
Map of the District

© Crown copyright and database rights 2019 Ordnance Survey 100026220

109



40 Statement of Gambling Principles • 2022-2024

New Forest District Council 
Licensing Services

Appletree Court, Lyndhurst, Hampshire. 
SO43 7PA

T 023 8028 5505  
E licensing@nfdc.gov.uk  
W newforest.gov.uk 

New Forest District Council 
Environmental Health 

Appletree Court, Lyndhurst, Hampshire. 
SO43 7PA

T 023 8028 5411 
E env.prot@nfdc.gov.uk  
W newforest.gov.uk 

The Gambling Commission 
Gambling Commission

Victoria Square House, Victoria Square, 
Birmingham. B2 4BP

T 0121 230 6500 
F 0121 237 2236 
E info@gamblingcommission.gov.uk 

HMRC - Her Majesty’s Revenue and 
Customs

Operational Team, HM Revenue and 
Customs, National Registration Unit 
Portcullis House, 21 India Street, 
Glasgow. G2 4PZ

Please ensure that you copy 
your application to the correct 
planning authority

New Forest District Council 
Planning Control 

Appletree Court, Lyndhurst, Hampshire. 
SO43 7PA 

T 023 8028 5311 
E dev.control@nfdc.gov.uk  
W newforest.gov.uk 

New Forest National Park Planning 
Authority 

Town Hall, Avenue Road, Lymington, 
Hampshire. SO41 9ZG 

T 01590 646615 
E dev.control@newforestnpa.gov.uk 
W newforestnpa.gov.uk

Police Licensing Team (Western 
Area) 

Southampton Police Office, Southampton 
City Council, Civic Centre 
Southampton. SO14 7LY 

T 023 8047 8373 
E force.licensing@hampshire.pnn.police.
uk 
W hampshire.police.uk 

Hampshire Fire and Rescue Service 
HQ 

Business Fire Safety, Leigh Road, 
Eastleigh, Hampshire. SO50 9SJ 

T 02392 664656 
F 02392 698123 
E csprotection.admin@hantsfire.gov.uk  
W hantsfire.gov.uk 

Hampshire County Council 
Children’s Services 
Department Safeguarding Unit 

Falcon House, Monarch Way, Winchester. 
SO22 5PL 

T 01962 876222 
E Child.protection@hants.gov.uk

Appendix B  
Responsible authorities contact details

110



Statement of Gambling Principles • 2022-2024 41

Appendix C 
Table of delegations of licensing functions under the gambling act 2005

Matter to be dealt with Full 
Council

General Purposes and 
Licensing Committee

Delegated

Policy X

Policy not to permit casinos X

Application for premises licences Where representations 
have been received and not 
withdrawn

Where no representations 
received/ representations 
have been withdrawn

Application for a variation to a 
licence

Where representations 
have been received and not 
withdrawn

Where no representations 
received/ representations 
have been withdrawn

Application for a transfer of a 
licence

Where representations have 
been received from the 
Commission

Where no representations 
received from the 
Commission

Application for a provisional 
statement

Where representations 
have been received and not 
withdrawn

Where no representations 
received/ representations 
have been withdrawn

Review of a premises licence X

Application for club gaming /club 
machine permits

Where representations 
have been received and not 
withdrawn

Where no representations 
received/ representations 
have been withdrawn

Cancellation of club gaming/ club 
machine permits

X

Applications for gaming machine 
permits

X

Applications for other permits X

Decisions as to whether 
representations are frivolous, 
vexatious or likely to have no 
Influence on a decision

X

Decisions as to whether to 
make representations against an 
application or review a premises 
licence.

X

Cancellation of licensed premises 
gaming machine permits

X

Consideration of temporary use 
notice

X

Decision to give a counter notice 
to a temporary use notice

X

111



newforest.gov.uk
 newforestdc    newforestgov

112



 

 

 

REPORT OF HR COMMITTEE 
 

(Meeting held on 23 November 2021) 
 
 
1. PAY POLICY STATEMENT 2022/23 (MINUTE NO 28) 
 
 The HR Committee is recommending the adoption of the Pay Policy Statement for 

2022/23. 
 
 The Localism Act 2011 requires councils to prepare a pay policy statement each 

financial year. The statement must set out the Council’s policies for the financial year 
relating to the remuneration of its Chief Officers, the remuneration of its lowest paid 
employees and the relationship between the remuneration of its Chief Officers and 
other employees. 
 

 The current position with the national pay award is reflected within the HR Committee 
report and at the HR Committee meeting, the Leader of the Council confirmed that, as 
the situation is likely to remain unresolved for a while, he has asked the Chief Executive 
to reflect the additional 0.25% pay award to all applicable employees (i.e. non chief 
officers) within the December payroll. 

 
 RECOMMENDED: 
 
 That the Pay Policy Statement 2022/23 as set out in Appendix 1 of Report 6 of 

the HR Committee agenda, be approved. 
 
2. CHANGE TO LOCAL TERMS OF CONDITIONS – SICKNESS ENTITLEMENT AND 

CONTINUOUS SERVICE (MINUTE NO 29) 
 
 The HR Committee, having considered the proposal, is recommending the recognition 
of continuous service when calculating sickness entitlement.  The proposal is in line 
with the National Joint Council (NJC) guidance. 

 
 To remain competitive in a challenging employment market, this step is considered 
proportionate and in line with many other local authorities.  Officers are satisfied that 
the Council’s robust probation and sickness policies will pick up any issues that arise 
relating to sickness absence, during the probationary period. 

  
 RECOMMENDED: 
 

 That the proposal to recognise continuous service when calculating sickness 
entitlement, be approved. 

 
3. DOMESTIC ABUSE SUPPORTING EMPLOYEES POLICY (MINUTE NO 31) 
 
 The HR Committee considered a suite of policies and guidance in relation to the 

support for employees in the context of domestic abuse and is recommending their 
adoption to the Council. 

 
 The policy and guidance has been discussed with the unions and has received the 
support of the Council’s Executive Management Team and the Employee Side Liaison 
Panel. 

 
 Domestic abuse has risen quite dramatically during the pandemic.  Many news stories 

cover this increase and Womens Aid has openly stated that there is an increased risk 
of harm and isolation during the pandemic.  

 

113

Agenda Item 8

https://democracy.newforest.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=525&MId=7267


 

 

 

 To support the Policy itself, a guide to supporting Employees dealing with Domestic 
Abuse has been produced and a Workplace Support Checklist which may be used 
once an employee has confided in a manager. 

 
 Whilst the policy and guidance are operational and live working documents, the 

importance of tackling domestic abuse has raised the profile and it is considered 
appropriate for the Full Council to adopt the policy. 

 
 RECOMMENDED: 
 
 That the proposed policy and guidance notes as set out in Appendices 1-3 of 

Report 9 of the HR Committee agenda, be approved. 
 
 
 

 
 

COUNCILLOR E HERON 
CHAIRMAN 

114



COUNCIL – 6 DECEMBER 2021 
 

REVIEW AND ALLOCATION OF SEATS TO COMMITTEES AND 
PANELS 

 
1. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
1.1 That the number of seats on the Planning Committee be reduced from 20 to 16; 
 
1.2 That the Council’s Standing Orders relating to quorum be amended as outlined at 

paragraph 2.3 of this report; 
 

1.3 That the allocation of seats to committees and panels in accordance with the principles 
set out in the report, be agreed as at the table at paragraph 4.6 of this report; 
 

1.4 That the Council gives effect to the wishes of the political groups in making 
appointments to these Committees and Panels, for the remainder of the four year 
period ending May 2023; 

 
1.5 That the effective date of the decisions above be 1 January 2022; and 

 
1.6 That the Monitoring Officer be authorised to make the consequential changes to the 

Constitution arising from the above. 
 
2. INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 
 
2.1 Two changes to the Council’s governance arrangements are proposed in this report.  

These concern the size of the current Planning Committee and the quorum for 
meetings. 
 

2.2 Advice has been sought from the Local Government Association Planning Advisory 
Service (PAS).  The size of Planning Committees vary significantly from one Council to 
another but PAS recommend that for decision making purposes, a smaller committee 
is more effective.  Whilst some committees are as small as 5 members, PAS advise 
that a maximum of 12 members is reasonable depending on the political balance, but 
that the optimum number is in the region of 9.  Given the current size of the Planning 
Committee, a reduction to 12 or lower would seem too significant a reduction at this 
stage, and it is therefore proposed that the number of seats on the Council’s Planning 
Committee be reduced from 20 to 16.   
 

2.3 The Full Council quorum (that is the number of Members who must be present for 
business to be transacted at meetings) stands at one quarter of the total number of 
Members.  At present, the quorum of other bodies including the Cabinet, Committees 
and Panels is one half of the whole number of the meeting.  It is proposed that for 
consistency, the quorum for all Cabinet, Committee, Sub-Committee and Panel 
meetings is one quarter of the whole number of the body (or 3, whichever is greater).  
This gives the Council more resilience at meetings where historically one half of the 
whole number of committee members would need to be in attendance to transact any 
business.  It also brings the quorum of Council Committees and Panels in line with the 
Full Council quorum. 

 
2.4 An example of the above change in respect of the Planning Committee would mean 

the Committee, with 16 Members would be able to transact business if no fewer than 4 
Members were in attendance. 

 

115

Agenda Item 11



2.5 In making changes to the number of seats on the Planning Committee, the Council 
must then review the representation of political groups on committees.  For this 
purpose, “committees” includes the Council’s Overview and Scrutiny Panels but 
excludes the Cabinet.  Following the recent vacancies on the Council, it is also 
necessary to review the representation of political groups on committees, having 
regard to the current number of Members on the Council at 58. 

 
2.6 There are four statutory principles of political balance which have to be applied in filling 

appointments to Committees. These are contained in Section 15(5) of the Local 
Government and Housing Act 1989. 

 
2.7 The principles that have to be applied are as follows:- 
 

(a) that not all seats on the body are allocated to the same political group; 
(b) that the majority of the seats on the body are allocated to a particular political 

group if the number of persons belonging to that group are a majority of the 
Authority’s membership; 

(c) subject to paragraphs (a) and (b) above, that the number of seats on the ordinary 
committees of a relevant Authority which are allocated to each political group bears 
the same proportion to the total of all the seats on the ordinary committees of that 
Authority as is borne by the number of members of that group to the membership 
of the Authority; and 

(d) subject to paragraphs (a) to (c) above, that the number of seats on the body which 
are allocated to each political group bears the same proportion to the same 
number of all seats on that body as is borne by the number of members of that 
group to the membership of the Authority. 

 
2.8 Once the Council has determined the allocation of committee places between the 

political groups, the Council must then appoint the nominees of the political groups to 
the committees. 

 
2.9 Those members who are not members of political groups have no legal entitlement to 

an allocation of seats on committees.  However, the political groups are entitled to their 
proportion of seats and once their entitlement has been reached, the remaining seats 
may be filled by members not belonging to a political group.  Such Members are 
classed as being non-aligned. 

 
2.10 These provisions need not be applied if a different position is agreed without any 

member of the authority voting against. 
 
3. CURRENT POSITION 
 
3.1 The political balance of the Council stands at:- 
 
 Conservative Group 44 (75.86%) 
 
 Liberal Democrat Group 13 (20.69%) 
 
 Non-aligned Members 2 
 
 Vacancies 2 
 
4. APPOINTMENTS TO COMMITTEES AND PANELS  
 
4.1 Subject to the Council’s approval of recommendation 1.1 in this report, there are 107 

Committee/Panel seats to which appointments should be made under the principles of 
proportionality. 

116



4.2 The application of the percentages outlined at paragraph 3.1 provides for the following 
allocation of seats to political groups across the overall Council position:- 

 
 Conservative Group 81 
 
 Liberal Democrat Group 22 
 
 Unallocated 4 
 
4.3 The application of the percentages outlined at paragraph 3.1 provides for the following 

allocation of seats to the individual Committees and Panels:- 
 
 

Committee/Panel Seats Conservative Liberal 
Democrats 

Unallocated 
Seats 

Appeals Committee 20 15 4 1 

Audit Committee 8 6 2 - 

General Purposes and 
Licensing Committee 

15 11 3 1 

HR Committee 8 6 2 - 

Planning Committee 16 12 3 1 

Community, 
Partnerships and 
Wellbeing O&S Panel 

 
10 

 
8 

 
2 

 
- 

Corporate Affairs and 
Local Economy O&S 
Panel 

10 8 2 - 

Environment and 
Sustainability O&S 
Panel 

10 8 2  
- 

Housing and 
Homelessness O&S 
Panel 

10 8 2 - 

Total 107 82 (+1) 22 (-) 3 (-1) 

 
 
4.4 The allocation of seats to individual committees leaves an unallocated seat on each of 

the Appeals Committee, General Purposes and Licensing Committee and the Planning 
Committee.  It also leaves the Conservative Group with an additional seat on the 
overall allocation, as at paragraph 4.2. 

 
4.5 The Council could resolve to allocate a seat(s) to the non-aligned Members.  The 

Council’s Constitution makes provision for the allocation of seats to Members who are 
not members of a political group, as nearly as possible in proportion to the number of 
those members on the Council.  There are four seats that could be allocated to the  
two non-aligned Members, outside of those that should be allocated to the political 
groups. 

 
4.6 Therefore, having regard to the overall position outlined at paragraph 4.2 and having 

received notification of a preference from the Conservative Group in adjusting their 
allocation, a recommended allocation of seats is outlined below:- 

 
 
 
 
 

117



Committee/Panel Seats Conservative Liberal 
Democrats 

Non-aligned 

Appeals Committee 20 15 4 1 

Audit Committee 8 6 2 - 

General Purposes and 
Licensing Committee 

15 11 3 1 

HR Committee 8 6 2 - 

Planning Committee 16 12 3 1 

Community, 
Partnerships and 
Wellbeing O&S Panel 

 
10 

 
8 

 
2 

 
- 

Corporate Affairs and 
Local Economy O&S 
Panel 

10 8 2 - 

Environment and 
Sustainability O&S 
Panel 

10 7 2 1 

Housing and 
Homelessness O&S 
Panel 

10 8 2 - 

Total 107 81 22 4 

 
4.7 The nominees of the political groups to the Committees and Panels will be circulated 

ahead of the meeting, alongside the preferences of the non-aligned Members. 
 
5. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
5.1 There are no financial implications arising directly from this report. 
 
6. CRIME & DISORDER IMPLICATIONS 
 
6.1 There are no crime and disorder implications arising directly from this report. 
 
7. ENVIRONMENTAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
7.1 There are no environmental implications arising directly from this report. 
 
8. EQUALITY & DIVERSITY IMPLICATIONS 
 
8.1 Political balance ensures that Committees and Panels are representative of the wishes 

of the electorate. 
 
 
 
 
For further information contact: 
 
Matt Wisdom 
Democratic Services Manager 
023 8028 5072 
Matt.wisdom@nfdc.gov.uk  
 
 

Background Papers: 
 
Local Government and Housing Act 1989 

 

118

mailto:Matt.wisdom@nfdc.gov.uk

	Agenda
	1 Minutes
	Minutes
	48 Questions To Portfolio Holders Under Standing Order 22A

	5 Reports of the Cabinet
	6 Report of the Audit Committee
	7 Report of the General Purposes and Licensing Committee
	Appendix 1 - Licensing Act Policy
	Appendix 2 - Gambling Policy

	8 Report of the HR Committee
	11 Review and Allocation of Seats to Committees and Panels

